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Corporate Profile £ & &/

C

CARRY WEALTH HOLDINGS LIMITED

manufactures and trades garment products for internationally
renowned brand names and engages in securities investment.
The Group has production facilities in Mainland China.

Headquartered in Hong Kong, Carry Wealth Holdings Limited has
been listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited since 2000.

The Chinese name of the Company means “enduring prosperity”.
The Group is committed to maximizing the return of its
shareholders for their ongoing support.
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Executive Directors

Mr Li Haifeng (Chairman)

Mr Lee Sheng Kuang, James (Managing Director)
Mr Tang Chak Lam, Charlie

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr Liu Run

Mr Tong Tang, Joseph

Mr Yau Wing Yiu

Audit Committee

Mr Yau Wing Yiu (Committee Chairman)
Mr Liu Run

Mr Tong Tang, Joseph

Remuneration Committee

Mr Tong Tang, Joseph (Committee Chairman)
Mr Liu Run

Mr Tang Chak Lam, Charlie

Mr Yau Wing Yiu

Nomination Committee

Mr Li Haifeng (Committee Chairman)
Mr Liu Run

Mr Tong Tang, Joseph

Mr Yau Wing Yiu

Investment Committee

Mr Li Haifeng (Committee Chairman)
Mr Lee Sheng Kuang, James

Mr Tang Chak Lam, Charlie

Company Secretary
Ms Kung Yuk Lan

Auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers
22nd Floor, Prince’s Building
Central, Hong Kong

Principal Bankers
China CITIC Bank International Limited
Standard Chartered Bank
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Principal Share Registrar and Transfer Agent
MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited

The Belvedere Building

69 Pitts Bay Road

Pembroke HMO8, Bermuda

Branch Share Registrar and Transfer Agent
in Hong Kong

Tricor Abacus Limited

Level 22, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong

Registered Office
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda

Head Office and Principal Place of Business
in Hong Kong

2908, 29th Floor

Enterprise Square Three

39 Wang Chiu Road

Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2310 8180

Fax: (852) 2310 8797

Website

www.carrywealth.com

E-mail Address
info@carrywealth.com

Stock Code
643

Board Lot Size
10,000 shares
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Information for Shareholders and Investors IFRER R IR EEHE

Results Announcement Date
Interim results

24 August 2015 (Monday)
Annual results

29 February 2016 (Monday)

Financial Calendar

Deadline for lodging share transfer documents for
entitlement to attend and vote at Annual General Meeting
8 April 2016 (Friday)

at 4:30 p.m.

Closure of register of members
11 April 2016 (Monday) to
14 April 2016 (Thursday)

Annual General Meeting
14 April 2016 (Thursday)
at 10:00 a.m.

Shareholder Enquiries

Any matters relating to your shareholding, such as transfer of
shares, change of address, loss of share certificates, should
be addressed to the Branch Share Registrar and Transfer
Agent in Hong Kong, contact details of which are set out as
follows:

Tricor Abacus Limited

Level 22, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2980 1333

Fax: (852) 2890 9350
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AFEMBRE

Results
4
Year ended 31 December
BE+-H=+—HLEE

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
Z¥-RE | —TMOF ZT—=F —T——_F —T——F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FAET FAET FAET FAET
Revenue g =% 120,695 153,176 145,838 122,737 601,843
Loss attributable to equity holders of AN A& #EzE#FH A

the Company JE G B 18 (37,983) (14,724) (30,216) (71,502) (47,401)

Assets and liabilities

BERBE
As at 31 December
WR+=-ZHA=+—H

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
ZR-AF | —FWF T =F —F—F —F—F
HK$'000 | HK$000 HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
TERT FAET FAET FAET FAET
Total assets WA E 315,102 357,103 233,120 222,446 328,610
Total liabilities waE (34,474) (43,007) (39,688) (34,120) (84,786)
Total equity B 280,628 314,096 193,432 188,326 243,824

E Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1B E £ R AR L 5
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Financial Highlights B1 75 5 &

2015 2014 Changes
ZE-1E | T mF EUEE
HK$000 | HK$'000
FHET FHET
Operating results TEER
Revenue e & 120,695 153,176 -21.2%
Gross profit E7 9,126 33,408 -72.7%
Loss attributable to equity holders of ARAERFEEAEREER
the Company (37,983) (14,724) 158.0%
Financial position at year end REXKZHBRR
Properties, plant and equipment ME - BEREE 52,763 58,610 -10.0%
Cash and cash equivalents RekBReEHEER 88,378 110,625 -20.1%
Net current assets mEBEEFE 220,634 248,021 -11.0%
Total assets BEE 315,102 357,103 -11.8%
Total liabilities BRE 34,474 43,007 -19.8%
Capital and reserves attributable to the ARRIERFEEAEGLZ
Company’s equity holders BERREE 280,628 314,096 -10.7%
Per share information BREH
Basic and diluted loss per share BREAREEES
(Hong Kong cents) (7 L) (4.68) (1900  146.3%
Capital and reserves attributable to the FRAARFERFEEA
Company’s equity holders per share BiEZEARFER
(Hong Kong cents) (A 4L) 34.3 39.0 -12.1%
Ratio analysis A
Profitability BHKFE
Gross profit margin EME 7.6% 21.8% -14.2%
Net loss margin FEEE (31.5%) 9.6%)  -21.9%
Return on the Company’s equity holders ARAIERFBEAE SRR (13.5%) (4.7%) -8.8%
Liquidity KR
Current ratio MENLL & 9.1 8.1 12.3%
Gearing ratio* BEARBEL & NATER | NATER NATER
Operating efficiency EEWR
Inventory turnover period (days) FERAE(HE) 78 75 4.0%
Trade receivable turnover (days) BoRWFIEAE(HE) 49 55 -10.9%
Trade payable turnover (days) BoENFIERAE(RE) 41 47 -12.8%

* As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Group did not have bank

borrowings.

B Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1B E £ R AR L 5
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Chairman’s Statement EfE#HR%

On behalf of the Board of Directors of the Company, | am
pleased to present to our shareholders the annual report of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 December 2015.

During 2015, the economy in the US, our major export market,
expanded at a moderate pace. Though labour conditions there
improved further with a lower unemployment rate, there were still
concerns about underemployment and wage growth. Consumer
confidence was low and households remained wary about
growth prospects. In the Euro zone, economic figures reflected
an ebbing recovery which was disappointing given the support
from quantitative easing. The Euro region was vulnerable to the
malaise of the emerging economies including Mainland China.
Mainland China experienced the slowest economic growth in
25 years amid weaker external demand and declining business
activity at home. The weak domestic market has exacerbated
the bearish sentiment about the world’'s second-largest
economy plagued by debt woes of the local governments and
overcapacity in many industries.

Against such a lackluster backdrop, the Group’s revenue
from the garment manufacturing and trading business further
contracted in 2015. Despite the efforts to improve sales and
services, increasing selling price pressure from customers due
to keener competition coupled with rising production costs
continuously whittled away the Group’s profitability.

With regard to the Group’s securities investment business,
the Hong Kong stock market was highly volatile in 2015. The
Hang Seng Index at one time surged to a seven-year high
in April, tracking a Mainland China market rally and retreated
later amid a heavy sell-off in that market. Volatility heightened
over concerns about the devaluation of the Renminbi and a
hard landing of the Mainland China economy, which in turn
would influence economies around the world. For the year,
the Hang Seng Index dropped by 7.2% from the year 2014.
Given the volatility of the market, the Group recorded a fair
value loss of HK$2.5 million.

The Group has been proactively seeking new business
opportunities in view of the recurrent losses incurred by
the garment manufacturing and trading business and the
erratic performance of the securities investment business.
On a positive note, subsequent to the year end, the Group
has successfully entered into an agreement to acquire a
27.5% equity interest in a Mainland China company which
is engaged in the sale and development of smart card

AANBRRARAEZEETE  MARKE
REARRIREWNB AR (FHEAER])
HE-_ZT—hAF+-_A=+—HILEE
LEFEEHRSE ©

R-ZE—hF XBEEALAEETEL
OmG EEEURESXER - @&
EEMBEMRNE—H I RERT
B BMETRENFBEBEDSAERS
HEEELMEXE SREPHIERANS
MEEERE BEEELREREE
XF o BT RAEE BB DR RE R
B BRSAKRE -BTRESXPE
RESHEEBEERKBATE o EIMEE
BRERB A MEREBRDZT - &
BAELET —thAFRRERNEE
BR 2REF_ALBEEINTBA
BEREHERZETEERBNRE
NTHERBTEREEEREE -

EHEXRRET AEERXEER
BOEBIWEN_T—AFE—F R
Do BEAEEHNRITHEN RS &
B BENBEEBRERF2EEBEN
A0 - PN EAEERAKE LT HISEA
SEZENMEEN -

ERAEEZRLFREELE A BBK
EMBR_TE—AFEGRARE - [B4EE
BRMWA—EEZEAEZLFah - BEF
B APETIHERS  BEERFPEMSHR
REBWERDE - HARERZERPEH
APEG BB ERENEEEBORBME
My E2IEE - AFEEEEIHR
—EEE THT2% o TSR ENH
BRT  ANEBRESAABEEREA-A
At+&&T

ERRKEENESERHSEEN
BEUNBHFREEBRETE K&
B —EREGRERE - IEEAKRE
NERZE  NEBERINGI L WE B
— XK BHKFERQGF 227.5% K A &=
ZARR B AREREEE MFAEIFR
SR EEREAESR - WEREAA
RE-—_F_aE8 T _FTREBE=-+8S
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Chairman’s Statement * E#H %

application products used for non-cash payments in Mainland
China. The consideration for the acquisition of RMB22 million
(approximately HK$26.2 million) is to be funded by the Group’s
internal resources. As the usage of non-cash payments in
Mainland China is still at a relatively low level compared with
developed countries, the Group believes that the acquisition
will provide an opportunity to diversify into a fast developing
market segment and is in line with its business strategy to seek
new income sources and greater returns for shareholders.

The Group acknowledges the importance of environmental,
social and corporate governance as key elements in
enhancing shareholders’ value. Thus it is dedicated to
improving its policies in compliance with the respective
regulatory requirements and in accordance with internationally
recommended practices. To achieve this aim, the Company
has continuously reviewed its resources, strengthened internal
training and sought professional advice from experts so
as to safeguard interests of the Group and the Company’s
shareholders as a whole.

Looking ahead, the global economic environment remains
challenging. Monetary policy divergence, US interest rate
hikes, oil price volatility and geopolitical tensions have
created uncertainties and risks. The Group will continue
to combat rising operating costs by bolstering production
efficiency, employing stringent cost control measures and
adapting innovative management practices. As for securities
investment, the Group will cautiously monitor its investment
activities and ensure adherence to its investment policies
and risk control guidelines. Last but not least, the Group
will continue to explore more business opportunities with
high potential growth particularly in relation to the third party
payment business sector in Mainland China.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude and appreciation
to my fellow directors and all of our staff for their diligence,
dedication and enthusiasm in helping the Group to meet and
overcome the challenges we have encountered. | would also
like to thank all of our customers, suppliers, business partners
and shareholders for their unwavering confidence and support
over the years.

Li Haifeng
Chairman

29 February 2016
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Management Discussion and Analysis

RESULTS AND BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group’s revenues
amounted to HK$120.7 million (2014: HK$153.2 million) while
gross profit was HK$9.1 million (2014: HK$33.4 million). Loss
attributable to equity holders was HK$38.0 million (2014:
HK$14.7 million). The basic and diluted loss per share were
both 4.68 HK cents (2014: both were 1.90 HK cents).

During the year under review, the US economy was expanding
at a moderate pace. The unemployment rate dropped to
the lowest level since the 2008 financial crisis. However, US
customers were still concerned about uncertainty on the
economic front following the withdrawal of the quantitative
easing policy and the rise in interest rates. While in the
Euro zone, the economy as a whole was slowly recovering.
In Mainland China, factory activity contracted for the tenth
straight month up to December 2015. The further slowing
down of Mainland China’s macroeconomic growth intensified
competition. In these challenging market conditions, the
Group’s revenue from the garment manufacturing and trading
business decreased by 9.8% to HK$121.7 million (2014:
HK$135.0 million). The selling prices of garment products to
major buyers were lower as compared to year 2014. Coupled
with the increasing pressure on labour costs, the Group’s
gross profit was eroded to HK$10.1 million (2014: HK$15.2
million) and the gross profit margin decreased by 3.0% to
8.3% (2014: 11.3%). As for the securities investment business,
the Group recorded a negative revenue and gross loss of
HK$1.0 million (2014: positive revenue and gross profit of
HK$18.2 million).

The selling expenses to revenue ratio was 2.3% (2014: 2.3%).
As a result of implementing stringent cost control measures,
administrative expenses decreased to HK$41.6 million (2014:
HK$44.6 million).

FEREBEOER

AEBHEZ-_ZT—HAF+-_A=+—H
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Management Discussion and Analysis & ¥ & 57 i & 2 #7

Segmental Analysis

a)

=

Garment manufacturing and trading segment

In the year under review, the Group’s factory in Heshan,
Mainland China accounted for its entire garment
production.

The continuation of the economic recovery in the US
maintained a moderate pace. Customers were still
cautious in their selection of vendors and hesitated
to place bulk purchase orders for factories located in
Mainland China with relatively high operating costs.
During the year under review, the Group faced increasing
competition from other Asian manufacturers. For the year
ended 31 December 2015, revenue from US customers
increased by only 2.6% to HK$52.1 million (2014: HK$50.8
million), accounting for 42.8% (2014: 37.6%) of the
segment revenue.

In Mainland China, the slowing economic growth had
weakened the local garment market conditions and
affected consumers’ sentiment. During the year under
review, revenue derived from Mainland China customers
decreased by 14.7% to HK$48.0 million (2014: HK$56.2
million), accounting for 39.4% (2014: 41.7%) of the
segment revenue.

The distressed Euro zone economies were plagued
by dangerously high unemployment levels and weak
consumer demand. Thus revenue from the European
customers also declined by 9.4% to HK$13.3 million (2014:
HK$14.7 million) and accounted for 11.0% (2014: 10.9%)
of the segment revenue.

All in all, revenue from the garment manufacturing and
trading segment decreased by 9.8% to HK$121.7 million
(2014: HK$135.0 million) and recorded a loss of HK$13.2
million (2014: HK$9.7 million).

Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1B E £ R AR L 5
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b) Securities investment segment

The Hang Seng Index dropped by 7.2% compared to the
year 2014 and closed at 21,914 points on 31 December
2015 (31 December 2014: 23,605 points). In the year
under review, the Hong Kong stock market was highly
volatile. In early 2015, the Hong Kong stock market rose in
tandem with Mainland China’s market rally. Nonetheless,
in mid-2015, the actions taken by Mainland China authority
to crack down on unregulated financial activities had
triggered heavy sell-offs on both the Hong Kong and
Mainland China bourses. In late 2015, the Hong Kong
stock market declined on lingering uncertainties over the
outlook for Mainland China’s economy and the volatility of
the Renminbi. For the year ended 31 December 2015, the
Group’s securities investment recorded a fair value loss
of HK$2.5 million (2014: fair value gain of HK$16.9 million)
and a segment loss of HK$10.0 million (2014: segment
profit of HK$11.7 million) respectively.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Adhering to a conservative financial management
methodology, the Group continued to maintain a healthy
financial position. As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s cash
and bank deposits totalled HK$88.4 million (31 December
2014: HK$118.6 million). Working capital represented by net
current assets amounted to HK$220.6 million (31 December
2014: HK$248.0 million). The Group’s current ratio was 9.1 (31
December 2014: 8.1).

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Group had no bank
borrowings.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

For the year under review, the Group incurred a total capital
expenditure of HK$1.9 million (2014: HK$1.1 million), which
was mainly for additions to leasehold improvement, office
equipment and motor vehicles.

b) EFEHKESE
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Management Discussion and Analysis & ¥ & 57 i & 2 #7

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group’s sales are principally transacted in US dollars
and Renminbi. With a factory located in Mainland China
and offices in Hong Kong and Mainland China, operating
expenses of the Group are primarily denominated in Hong
Kong dollars and Renminbi with some expenses in US dollars.
The Group is mainly exposed to US dollar risk arising from
sales transactions of its garments. As the US dollar is pegged
to the Hong Kong dollar, exposure to foreign exchange risk
is minimal.

The Group will closely monitor fluctuations of the US dollar
exchange rates and, if necessary, will enter into forward
exchange contracts to reduce currency exchange fluctuation
risks.

CREDIT POLICY

Consistent with prevailing industry practice, the Group’s
business was transacted on an open account basis with its
long-standing customers. The credit ratings of customers are
constantly reviewed and their respective credit limits adjusted,
as and when necessary.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had no charges on
assets.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had no contingent
liabilities.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

The Group provides a harmonious and professional working
environment to employees whose commitment and expertise
are critical to the long-term success of its business.
The Group also offers employees rewarding careers and
provides them with a variety of training programmes aimed
at enhancing their professionalism. The Group remunerates
employees according to prevailing market practices, individual
experience and performance. To attract and retain high
calibre employees, it also offers discretionary bonuses and
share options to staff members based on performance of the
individual as well as the Group.
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As at 31 December 2015, the Group had a total of 901 (31
December 2014: 957) full-time employees in Mainland China
and Hong Kong.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND CORPORATE
RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to
maintaining the highest environmental and social standards
to ensure sustainable development of its business. The
Group has complied with all relevant laws and regulations
in relation to its business including health and safety,
workplace conditions, employment and the environment. The
Group understands a better future depends on everyone’s
participation and contribution. It has encouraged employees,
customers, suppliers and other stakeholders to participate
in environmental and social activities which benefit the
community as a whole.

The Group maintains strong relationships with its employees,
has enhanced cooperation with its suppliers and has provided
high quality products and services to its customers so as to
ensure sustainable development.

OUTLOOK

Looking ahead in 2016, in view of the rising geopolitical
tension in some regions, the Group expects the global
economy to experience erratic growth.

The US economy is expected to continue the trend of solid
growth. A stable and accommodative monetary policy is
essential to keep the growth engine running. However caution
is warranted about corporate performance and consumer
sentiment following the interest rate hike process started in
December 2015.

As for the Euro zone, the region’s economy has revived
following the European Central Bank embarking on the
massive quantitative easing program. However, the refugees
from Irag and Syria had created a major challenge to the
cohesion and political stability of the European Union. Any
significant disputes on the refugee policy among Eurozone
countries could have an adverse impact on the region’s
economic recovery.
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In Mainland China, the growth engine may slow down
further as it continues the transition from the government-led
investment and manufacturing model to a consumption and
services economic model. Serious restructuring challenges
including weak state-owned enterprise balance sheets,
widespread industrial oversupply and local government
debts need to be resolved. The Group believes the Central
Government would implement measures from time to time
to tackle any deviation from its target growth and reform
plan. Nevertheless, the road to structural reform is rocky and
prolonged.

The Group’s garment manufacturing and trading business will
continue to encounter difficulty and be highly competitive.
First, the Group’s only factory in Mainland China still faces
rising wages and gloomy local market demand. Second,
the US led Trans-Pacific Partnership may further intensify
competition in securing US customer orders. Facing this
difficult and uncertain situation, the Group will continue its
stringent cost control measures and efficiency enhancement.

At the start of 2016, the stock market in Mainland China
twice halted trading under the newly introduced circuit breaker
mechanism. The ripples created as a result added to the
world equities market volatility. With the stronger participation
of investors from Mainland China through the Shanghai-
Hong Kong Stock Connect and QDI funds, the magnitude
and duration of corrections for the Hong Kong stock market
have been magnified and volatility has become greater.
The major risks now facing the Hong Kong stock market
include concerns about the economic growth in Mainland
China, Renminbi exchange rate movements and uncertainties
about US interest rate hikes. As for the securities investment
business in 2016, the Group will take a more cautious
approach and hedge the stock portfolio in order to alleviate
the adverse effects of the volatility.
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As always, the Group pledges to seek opportunities to
broaden its income sources. Subsequent to the year ended
31 December 2015, the Group entered into an agreement
to acquire 27.5% equity interests in a company established
in Mainland China at a consideration of RMB22 million
(approximately HK$26.2 million) using internal resources. The
company is mainly engaged in the sale and development
of smart card application products used for non-cash
payments in Mainland China. According to People’s Bank of
China (“PBoC”), the usage of non-cash payments is still at
a relatively low level as compared with developed countries.
The PBoC has repeatedly announced guidelines and issued
more third-party payment licenses to encourage non-cash
settlement. With the government’s encouragement and market
growth potential, the Group believes that the acquisition will
provide a valuable opportunity for diversification from its
traditional business. The Group will continue to seek growth
opportunities in order to maximize returns to its shareholders.
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The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) is
committed to maintaining and ensuring high standards of
corporate governance as good corporate governance can
safeguard the interests of all shareholders and enhance
corporate value. The Company continuously reviews and
improves the corporate governance practices and standards of
the Group from time to time to ensure that business activities and
decision making processes are regulated in a proper manner.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has complied with all the code provisions
set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) throughout the
year ended 31 December 2015.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board Composition

The Board is led by the Chairman and currently comprises
three executive directors (one of whom is the Chairman) and
three independent non-executive directors as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr Li Haifeng (Chairman)
Mr Lee Sheng Kuang, James (Managing Director)
Mr Tang Chak Lam, Charlie

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr Chen Zhongfa

(resigned on 3 November 2015)
Mr Liu Run

(appointed on 20 May 2015)
Mr Tong Tang, Joseph
Mr Yau Wing Yiu

The biographical details of the directors are set out on
pages 40 to 42 of this Annual Report. The Board possesses
a balance of skill and experience which is appropriate for
the requirements of the business of the Group. A balanced
composition of executive and non-executive directors also
generates a strong independent element on the Board, which
can exercise independent judgement effectively and make
decision objectively for the best interests of the Company.
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The Company does not at present have any officer with the
title of “chief executive officer” (“CEQ”) but instead the duties
of a CEO are performed by the Managing Director. In order to
have a clear division between the management of the Board
and the day-to-day management of the business operation
of the Company, the role of the Chairman is separate from
that of the Managing Director. The Chairman focuses on
overall corporate development and strategic direction of the
Group and provides leadership for the Board and oversees
the efficient functioning of the Board. The Managing Director
is responsible for all day-to-day corporate management
matters as well as planning and developing the Group’s
strategy. Such division of responsibilities helps to reinforce
their independence and to ensure a balance of power
and authority. There is no relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material or relevant relationship)
among members of the Board and in particular, between the
Chairman and the Managing Director.

All the independent non-executive directors of the Company
have appropriate qualifications and their professional opinions
raised in the Board meetings facilitate the maintenance
of good corporate governance practices. The Company
has received from each of the independent non-executive
directors an annual confirmation of his independence. All the
independent non-executive directors meet the guidelines for
assessment of independence as set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.

Appointments and Re-election of Directors

The Board is empowered under the Company’s Bye-laws to
appoint any person as a director either to fill a casual vacancy
on or as an additional member of the Board. The selection
criteria are mainly based on the professional qualification and
experience of the candidate and the recommendations of the
Nomination Committee. All directors are engaged on service
contracts for a term of three years. A newly appointed director
must retire and be re-elected at the first general meeting after
his/her appointment.

At each annual general meeting of the Company, one-third of
the directors for the time being (or, if their number is not three
or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less
than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation. Every director
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years. The directors to retire every year will be those who
have been the longest in office since their last re-election or
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appointment. As such, no director has a term of appointment
longer than three years. A retiring director shall be eligible for
re-election. During the year Mr Liu Run was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company.

Board and Management

To enable all directors to make informed decisions in
the Board meetings and to discharge their duties and
responsibilities, appropriate, complete and reliable information
prepared by the management are provided in a timely manner.
All directors are kept informed on a timely basis of major
changes that may affect the Group’s business, including
relevant rules and regulations. To reinforce independence, the
Board and each director can have separate and independent
access to the management of the Company if additional
information is required. To further assist the directors to
discharge their duties to the Company, the Board has also
established a written procedure to enable directors to seek
independent professional advice at the Company’s expenses.
No request was made by any director for such independent
professional advice in 2015.

In order to have a clear principle in relation to the matters
specifically reserved to the Board for decisions, functions
between the Board and the management are formalized. The
Board has established a written guideline determining which
issues require a decision of the Board and those delegated to
the management. The guideline is reviewed by the Board on
a regular basis and has been posted on the intranet of the
Company. Matters reserved to the Board for decision include
the making of significant financial and legal commitments,
mergers and acquisitions, material asset acquisitions or
disposals, the change of share capital, the approval of
financial reporting, budgeting, management succession
and representation to shareholders. The management is
responsible for the day-to-day running of the Group. The
management is required to submit reports on the operations
to the Board on a regular basis and make recommendations
to the Board on the development of major projects or
business proposals and their respective implementation. The
Board is of the view that such division of responsibilities can
enhance the corporate governance of the Company.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of any possible legal action against its directors and
officers and the insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual
basis.
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Board Meetings

At least four regular Board meetings are held a year with
at least fourteen days’ notice given to all directors to
approve annual and interim results, review the business
operation and the internal control system of the Group and
the meeting schedule will be fixed at the beginning of each
year to facilitate fullest possible attendance. Between regular
meetings, other Board meetings are held to approve major
issues when necessary. Agendas and accompanying Board
papers are sent not less than three days before the date
of Board meetings to ensure that the directors are given
sufficient review time. Draft minutes of Board meetings and
Board committee meetings are circulated to directors for their
review and comment while final version of the said minutes,
duly signed, are sent to all members for their records. All
said minutes are kept by the Company Secretary of the
Company and are open for inspection at any reasonable time
on reasonable notice by any director.

During the year, four Board meetings were held and the
attendance records of directors are set out on page 28 of
this Annual Report.

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

The Company provides briefings and other training to develop
and refresh the directors’ knowledge and skills. As part
of an ongoing process of directors’ training, the Company
Secretary continuously updates all directors on the latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and enhance
their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
The Company Secretary also circulates details of training
courses which may be of interest to directors. All directors
are encouraged to attend training courses at the Company’s
expense. All directors provided the Company their training
records for the year ended 31 December 2015.

During the year, the Company organized and funded a
formal training session conducted by its legal counsel for the
directors and officers of the Company which covered topics
on Transactions under the Code on Takeovers and Mergers.
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Securities Transactions of Directors and Relevant
Employees

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting
than the required standard set out in the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model
Code”). Having made specific enquiry of all directors of the
Company, all directors have confirmed that they had complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code and the
Company’s code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions during the year.

Details of the directors’ interests in the shares of the Company
as at 31 December 2015 are set out on pages 44 to 45 of
this Annual Report.

In accordance with Code A.6.4 of the CG Code, the Board
has also established a written guideline on no less exacting
terms than the Model Code for employees of the Company
or director or employee of the Company’s subsidiaries or
holding company who are likely to possess inside information
in relation to the Group or securities of the Company. No
incident of non-compliance was noted by the Company in
2015.

BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit Committee

The Board set up the Audit Committee in 2000 with specific
written terms of reference which deals clearly with its authority
and duties. The terms of reference were updated on 29
December 2015 and maintained on both the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange. The Audit Committee is
to review the Group’s financial reporting, the external auditor’s
independence, internal controls and corporate governance
issues and make recommendations to the Board.

The members of the Audit Committee include:
Mr Yau Wing Yiu (Committee Chairman)

Mr Liu Run
Mr Tong Tang, Joseph
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All Audit Committee members are independent non-executive
directors. During the year, the Audit Committee held four
meetings and the attendance records of members are set out
on page 28 of this Annual Report.

The Audit Committee had mainly performed the following work
during the year:

(0

(vi)

reviewed the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with the applicable standards;

reviewed the draft interim and annual financial statements
and the related draft results announcements;

reviewed the change in accounting standards and
assessment of potential impacts on the Group’s financial
statements;

reviewed the Group’s internal control system including
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting function, and their training programmes and
budget, and discussed the relevant issues including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions;

made recommendation on the appointment or
reappointment of the external auditors and approved their
terms of engagement;

reviewed and monitored the training and continuous
professional development of directors;

(vii) reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on

corporate governance and made recommendations to the
Board; and

(viiiyrevised its terms of reference in accordance with the

new amendments to the Listing Rules in respect of risk
management and internal control policy.

MBEZZEEREBHRBIUIFNTE
FoRNFER  BERZREERHRTORE
@ RBZERETHIEANANFERES
28H °

() BHRHREFHBERESRE -
BA TR AE B S N ST

(i) FHEFERZEE  ARFTHE
AEEUBHRR2BELE

(iv) A ANERE 2 AREIERS - B
RRABEE & A5 ERBIEE T |
MWER BIEENMEREDRSN
AR EBIMRERZHBIREREH
BEXRERR URFH - 2&F
HARERELRAREEBESIEA
BT T R AR

() BERIERAERBINSZBEI IR T2 -
3 2 #E H B AR AR

Vi MR RERERZBIIRFERE
BR:

(vil) A ARNARZ BEEBBRREER -
VREEGREES:

(Vi) AR 5 [ B B IR e A B BS 1 ISR
eIz ERA - BT EBES
o

c3

Annual Report 2015 £ E 3R &



Corporate Governance Report 1% &4 &

Remuneration Committee

The Board set up the Remuneration Committee in 2005
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly
with its authority and duties. The terms of reference are
maintained on both the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange. The Remuneration Committee’s role is to
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
policy and structure for directors and senior management
and to ensure that they are fairly rewarded for their individual
contribution to the Group’s overall performance, having regard
to the interests of shareholders. The principal duties of the
Remuneration Committee include reviewing and making
recommendations to the Board on the specific remuneration
packages of all directors and senior management as well as
performance-based remuneration by reference to corporate
goals and objectives resolved by the Board from time to time.

The members of the Remuneration Committee include:

Mr Tong Tang, Joseph (Committee Chairman)
Mr Liu Run

Mr Tang Chak Lam, Charlie

Mr Yau Wing Yiu

Except for Mr Tang Chak Lam, Charlie who is an executive
director, all Remuneration Committee members are
independent non-executive directors. The remuneration of
each of the directors was determined in accordance with the
remuneration policy.

The main principles of remuneration policy of the Company
are:

() to retain and motivate executive directors and senior
management by linking their compensation with

performance as measured against corporate objectives;

(i) to align executive directors’ and senior management’s
remuneration with shareholders’ interests; and

(iii) to ensure that no director or senior management or any of
his associate is involved in deciding his own remuneration.
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When fixing the remuneration packages of executive directors,
considerations have been given to the qualifications and
experience of the executive directors, their duties and
responsibilities with and contributions to the Group, the
level of directors’ remuneration of other comparable listed
companies in Hong Kong, the Group’s performance and the
prevailing market condition. The principal elements of the
remuneration packages of executive directors of the Company
include salary, director’s fee, double pay, discretionary bonus
and share options.

Details of the remuneration of each director, on a named
basis, are disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements
on pages 92 to 93 of this Annual Report. Reimbursement
is provided for out-of-pocket expenses incurred (including
traveling and hotel expenses) in connection with the
performance of directors’ duties.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held one
meeting and had recommended to the Board on the
appointment of Mr Liu Run as an independent non-executive
director and a member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee and the approval
of his remuneration package. The attendance records of
members are set out on page 28 of this Annual Report.

Nomination Committee

The Board set up the Nomination Committee in 2012
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly
with its authority and duties. The terms of reference are
maintained on both the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange. The role of the Nomination Committee is to
formulate policy and make recommendations to the Board on
matters including nomination and appointment of directors,
and structure and composition of the Board.

During the year, the Board had maintained a board diversity
policy setting out the approach to achieve diversity on the
Board.
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With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development, the Company sees increasing diversity at
the Board level as an essential element in supporting the
attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable
development. In designing the Board’s composition, Board
diversity has been considered from a number of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard
for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The members of the Nomination Committee include:

Mr Li Haifeng (Committee Chairman)
Mr Liu Run

Mr Tong Tang, Joseph

Mr Yau Wing Yiu

Except for Mr Li Haifeng who is an executive director, all
Nomination Committee members are independent non-
executive directors. During the year, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting to review the structure, size
and composition and succession planning of the Board and
assess the independence of the independent non-executive
directors. It also recommended the Board on the appointment
of Mr Liu Run as an independent non-executive director, a
member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee and Mr Tong Tang, Joseph as the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee of the Company
respectively. The attendance records of members are set out
on page 28 of this Annual Report.

Investment Committee

The Board set up the Investment Committee in 2014 with
specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with
its authority and duties. The primary role of the Investment
Committee is to review and approve the investment policy and
monitor the securities investment business as it deems proper
to meet the latest development of the Group or changes in
the securities market.
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The members of the Investment Committee include:

Mr Li Haifeng (Committee Chairman)
Mr Lee Sheng Kuang, James
Mr Tang Chak Lam, Charlie

During the year, the Investment Committee held two meetings
and the attendance records of members are set out on page
28 of this Annual Report.

During the vyear, the Investment Committee had mainly
performed the following work:

() approved and updated the investment policy including
objectives and strategy that direct investment activities;

(i) oversaw investment activities of the Group and controlled
the associated risk levels to assure adherence to the
investment policy;

(i) monitored the performance of the investment portfolio and
approved the re-appointment of the external investment
professionals.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

The attendance of individual Board member in Board
meetings, Board Committees meetings and general meeting
for the year ended 31 December 2015 is set out in the table
below:

ESREEENEZHFRH

BE_ZT—RFt-A=T—HLFE"

BENEFEEeRERESS

L &
= R

CEBEZ

B2 R REZHFEREHNT

*x:

No. of meetings attended/No. of meetings held

HEERRY BTEERY
Audit Remuneration Nomination  Investment
Board Committee Committee Committee = Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meeting Meeting Meetings Meeting
EEE EBERZESE HFWESE REZEE BEZESE B ®
Ef ik iRk Ef EE XE
Executive Directors
HITEE
Mr Li Haifeng 4/4 N/A N/A 1/1 2/2 11
=R EE TiE A NiE A
Mr Lee Sheng Kuang, James 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 2/2 11
EHEHEE iE A iE A TEA
Mr Tang Chak Lam, Charlie 4/4 N/A 11 N/A 2/2 11
HERTE TiE A TEA
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BUFEHRITEE
Mr Chen Zhongfa 2/3 3/3 N/A N/A N/A 11
(resigned on 3 November 2015) NiE A TEA TiE A
BREEELE
(R-ZFE—hp#F+—HA=HFHF)
Mr Liu Run 2/2 2/2 1/1 1/1 N/A N/A
(appointed on 20 May 2015) i A T iE A
ABraE
(R-F—AERH-F+HEZT)
Mr Tong Tang, Joseph 4/4 4/4 11 11 N/A 11
BERE THEA
Mr Yau Wing Yiu 4/4 4/4 11 11 N/A 11
B 5K 08 5 THEA
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RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARATION AND
REPORTING OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company acknowledge their
responsibility for preparing the financial statements of the
Group in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. The directors will select
suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently,
make judgements and estimates that are prudent, fair
and reasonable and prepare the financial statements on a
going concern basis. The Board’s responsibility to present
a balanced, clear and understandable assessment extends
to annual and interim reports, other inside information
announcements and other financial disclosures required under
the Listing Rules as well as the information required to be
disclosed pursuant to statutory requirements.

The statement of the auditor of the Company regarding their
reporting responsibilities for the financial statements of the
Group is set out on pages 49 to 50 of this Annual Report.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has the ultimate responsibility to maintain a
sound and effective internal control system for the Group
to safeguard the shareholders’ investment and the Group’s
assets and to ensure strict compliance with relevant laws,
rules and regulations. The Audit Committee is responsible for
reviewing the effectiveness of the internal control system and
reporting to the Board. The scope of internal control relates
to areas including effectiveness and efficiency of operations,
reliability of financial reporting and compliance with applicable
laws and regulations.

During the year, the Board has reviewed the effectiveness of
the internal control system of the Group through the Audit
Committee. The review covers the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function, their training
programmes and budget, and all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions of the Group. No material internal
control aspects of any significant problems were noted. Both
the Audit Committee and the Board were satisfied that the
internal control system of the Group has been functioned
effectively during the year under review.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

PricewaterhouseCoopers is the external auditor of the
Company. For the year ended 31 December 2015, the
external auditor received the following remuneration for audit
and non-audit services provided to the Group:

% ST BN &

EOFOKBEFMEBRAERRATZI
BZEM BE-_E—RFET+-_A=+
—HUIEFE  INEZHBEAERMAEER
R 2 TR R IE T AT AR TS HE T %1 B
ok

HK$'000
FHET
Audit services FEit R 1,125
Non-audit services FEEET AR
Agreed upon procedures on interim reporting MAHRE O EERRIERF 135
Taxation services 15 7% Bk 1% 91
1,351
The Audit Committee received written confirmation from EREZESCEENEZEMMRER T
the external auditor on its independence and objectivity MERBEUEN  EMERE R H
as required by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public EREEBEHMAEIHT -
Accountants.
SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR REEANRIEEERR
RELATIONS
Shareholders to Convene a Special General Meeting BREREBHEBEESNXE
According to the Bye-laws of the Company, shareholders’ BEARARZERMEA - FANELHE

holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company, can by
written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary
of the Company to convene a special general meeting for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition
and such meeting shall be held within two months after
the deposit of such requisition. In compliance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules, any annual general meeting,
and general meeting at which the passing of a special
resolution is to be considered shall be called by at least 20
clear business days’ notice, whilst others may be called by
at least 10 clear business days’ notice.
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To further enhance the minority shareholders’ right, all
resolutions at any general meeting are decided on poll and
such practice has been adopted since 2005. The chairman
of any general meetings ensures that the shareholders are
informed of the detailed procedures for conducting a poll by
way of making the explanation at the commencement of the
general meetings. The chairman of general meetings also
ensures full compliance with the requirements about voting
by poll contained in the Listing Rules and the Bye-laws of the
Company.

Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election as a
Director

The procedures for a shareholder to propose a person for
election as a Director can be found on the website of the
Company. Shareholders representing not less than one-
twentieth of the total voting rights of all shareholders having
at the date of the requisition a right to vote at the general
meeting or who are no less than 100 shareholders can submit
a written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary
to propose a resolution relating to other matters at a general
meeting. The written requisition must state the resolution,
accompanied by a statement of not more than one thousand
words with respect to the matter referred to in the proposed
resolution or the business to be dealt with at the general
meeting and contain the signatures of all the requisitionists
(which may be contained in one document or in several
documents in like form). Such requisition must be deposited
at the Company’s registered office at Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda not less than six
weeks before the general meeting in the case of a requisition
requiring notice of a resolution and not less than one week
before the general meeting in the case of any other requisition
and be accompanied by a sum of money reasonably sufficient
to meet the Company’s expenses in serving the notice of
the resolution and circulating the statement given by the
requisitionists to all shareholders in accordance with the
requirements under the applicable laws and rules.
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Communication with Shareholders

In order to maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders,
shareholders are encouraged to attend annual general
meeting of the Company at which the Chairman of the Board
and the chairmen of the Board committees are pleased to
answer questions related to the Group’s business.

Shareholders’ comments and suggestions are welcome and
such comments can be sent in writing to the Company
Secretary at the Company’s address in Hong Kong or by
e-mail to the Company’s website. The Board endeavors to
answer all invaluable questions of the shareholders.

As a channel of further promoting effective communication,
the corporate website, www.carrywealth.com, is maintained
by the Company to disseminate information on a timely basis
and the published information will be maintained at the above
website for at least five years. A shareholders communication
policy was adopted in March 2012 and has been posted on
the Company’s website.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There were no changes in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year.
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The directors present their report together with the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 29 to the
financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by
operating segment is set out in Note 5 to the financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the
consolidated income statement on page 51.

The directors did not declare any interim dividend for the six
months ended 30 June 2015 (2014: nil).

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: nil).

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2015, the Company had no reserve (31
December 2014: HK$19,814,000) available for distribution as
computed in accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda. However, the Company’s share premium account in
the amount of HK$217,761,000 as at 31 December 2015 (31
December 2014: HK$211,693,000) may be distributed in the
form of fully paid bonus shares, subject to the shareholders’
approval of the Company and compliance with provision of
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and the Bye-laws of
the Company.

Movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
during the year are set out in Notes 26 and 32(a) to the
financial statements.
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SHARES ISSUED IN THE YEAR

Details of the shares issued in the year ended 31 December
2015 are set out in Note 24 to the financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Share options granted to directors and selected
employees

Details of share options granted in prior years and current
year is set out in the section headed “SHARE OPTIONS” in
this report and Note 25 to the financial statements. No share
options were granted during the year ended 31 December
2015.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out
in Note 29 to the financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Group had no bank
borrowings.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page
6 of this Annual Report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
during the year.
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SHARE OPTIONS

On 22 May 2012, the shareholders of the Company approved
the adoption of a share option scheme (the “Scheme”). A
summary of the principal terms of the Scheme, as disclosed in
accordance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) is as follows:

U]

(ii)

(iii)

Purpose

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Company to
grant options to participants as incentives or rewards for
their contribution or potential contribution to the Company
and/or any of the subsidiaries.

Qualifying participants

Any person being an employee, director (including
executive, non-executive director or independent non-
executive director), consultant, representative, professional
adviser, customer, business partner, joint venture partner,
strategic partner, landlord or tenant of, or any supplier
or provider of goods or services to, the Company or any
subsidiary, and any trustee(s) of a discretionary trust of
which one or more beneficiaries belong to any of the
abovementioned category(ies) of persons.

Maximum number of shares

The total number of shares available for issue under the
Scheme is 80,470,023 which is 9.83% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of this Annual
Report.
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(iv) Maximum entitlement of each qualifying participant

(v)

No qualifying participant shall be granted any options
which, if exercised in full, would result in such person’s
maximum entitlement exceeding 1% of the aggregate
number of shares for the time being issued and issuable
under the Scheme in the 12-month period up to and
including the proposed grant date unless such grant
is approved in advance by the shareholders in general
meeting.

No qualifying participant who is a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the Company,
or any of their respective associates shall be granted any
options, which, if exercised in full, would result in the
shares issued and issuable to such person under the
Scheme in the 12-month period up to and including the
proposed grant date for such options, unless such grant
of options is approved in advance by the shareholders of
the Company in general meeting:

(@) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the number of
shares then in issue; and

(b) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price
of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets on each relevant date on which the
grant of such options is made to such person under
the relevant scheme, in excess of HK$5 million,

Option period

In respect of any particular option, such period
commencing on the date of grant or such later date as
the directors may decide and expiring on such date as
the directors may determine, such period not to exceed
10 years from the date of grant.
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(vi) Acceptance of offer

An offer of the grant of an option shall remain open for
acceptance for a period of 30 days from the date of the
letter containing the grant. An offer of the grant of the
option shall be regarded as having been accepted when
the duplicate of the grant letter duly signed by the grantee
together with a remittance in favour of the Company of
HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof is
received by the Company.

(vii) Subscription price

The subscription price in respect of any particular option
shall be such price as the directors may determine at the
date of grant of the relevant option but shall be at least
the highest of:

(@ The closing price of the Company’s shares as stated
in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant, which must be a business day;

(b) The average closing price of the Company’s shares
as stated in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and

(c) The nominal value of the Company’s shares.

(vii)The remaining life of the Scheme

The directors shall be entitled at any time within 10 years
commencing on 22 May 2012 to offer the grant of an
option to any qualifying participants.

(vi) 2 4h 38 55
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Under the terms of the Scheme, the Company granted
a total of 18,100,000 shares options to certain qualifying
participants on 29 August 2012 with rights to subscribe
for a total of 18,100,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each in
the share capital of the Company at an exercise price of
HK$0.419 per share. Upon completion of a rights issue on
13 February 2014, the number of share options held by the
grantees and the exercise price were adjusted. Details of
share options granted under the Scheme and outstanding as
at 31 December 2015 are as follows:

BIEBEZFTE 2GR ARRRZE—
—“FNAZTNABUER049E T Z
TEEMAETAER2EERTA R
18,100,000 fE iz #& - B ERBR AR
BIRAPEREEOIE T EEKRA R
18,100,000/% - R=ZE—UF - HA+=H
HATEKE BRAFBFENERES
BRITEEHH AR - RIBEZFTEIER
EmR-_E—RAF+-_A=+—HiEX
TR CERECFBEOT:

Number of share options

BRENE
Exercised during At
Name of grantees Position held with the Company At 1 January 2015 the year 31 December 2015
REATEE R-F-1% RER R-F-1%
ERA%Z Z B —A-H fi#8 +=A=+-H
Mr Li Haifeng Chairman and Executive Director 4,235,294 (4,235,294) -
(Note 2)
FEAEE IRRATESR GED
Mr Lee Sheng Kuang, James Managing Director and Executive 3,176,471 (3,176,471) -
Director (Note 2)
FHriL ESRRERYTES GED
Mr Tang Chak Lam, Charlie Executive Director 1,058,824 (1,058,824) -
(Note 2)
HEREE #ES (H2)
Mr Chen Zhongfa Independent Non-Executive Director 1,058,824 (1,058,824) -
Resigned on 3 November 2015 (Note 2)
REEEE - BUFNITES GED
- RZE-05+-A=REHE
9,529,413 (9,529,413) -
Continuous contract 3,811,765 (3,811,765) -
employees
EEANESR
Total 13,341,178 (13,341,178) -

o
& =
/zv E+
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Notes:

1. No share options were granted, cancelled or lapsed during the year.

2. The share options were exercised at an exercise price of HK$0.396
per share. The closing price per share immediately before the date on
which the options were exercised was HK$1.83.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Mr Li Haifeng (Chairman)
Mr Lee Sheng Kuang, James (Managing Director)
Mr Tang Chak Lam, Charlie
Mr Liu Run?
— appointed on 20 May 2015
Mr Tong Tang, Joseph*
Mr Yau Wing Yiu*
Mr Chen Zhongfa*
— resigned on 3 November 2015

# Independent Non-Executive Director

In accordance with bye-law 86(2) of the Company’s Bye-laws,
Mr Liu Run, shall retire from office at the forthcoming annual
general meeting and, being eligible, will offer himself for re-
election.

In accordance with bye-law 87 of the Company’s Bye-laws,
Mr Tang Chak Lam, Charlie and Mr Tong Tang, Joseph
shall retire from office by rotation and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

Mr Chen Zhongfa resigned on 3 November 2015 as an
independent non-executive director of the Company. Mr Chen
Zhongfa has confirmed that he has no disagreement with
the Board and nothing relating to the affairs of the Company
needed to be brought to the attention of the shareholders of
the Company.

Mr Liu Run, Mr Tong Tang, Joseph and Mr Yau Wing Yiu are
independent non-executive directors of the Company and all
of them were appointed for a three-year term.

I
1R B R RS -

2. ZEBRIELEMIO0.396ETTITHEEETE - B
EEREETERSAI W mEAER1.83
BT o

EE
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2
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fBE B g A
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DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS

Mr Li Haifeng
Chairman

Mr Li Haifeng, aged 45, was appointed as the Chairman and
an executive director in June 2011 and is the Chairman of
both the Nomination Committee and Investment Committee of
the Company. He is also the sole director of Dragon Peace
Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company. Mr Li is
responsible for overall corporate and business development,
and strategic direction of the Group and provides leadership
for the board of directors of the Company. Mr Li has extensive
experience in information technology and waste water
treatment industries. He is currently an executive director and
a vice president of Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited
(“BEWG”) (@ company listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange) and the chairman of the Supervisory Committee
of BEWG Environmental Group Co., Ltd, a wholly owned
subsidiary of BEWG, and is mainly responsible for both
the PRC and overseas water markets. Mr Li served as an
independent non-executive director of Huarong International
Financial Holdings Limited (formerly known as Simsen
International Corporation Limited, a company listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange) for the period from April
2010 to April 2013. Mr Li holds a Bachelor degree in Law
from the Faculty of Law in Peking University in 1992.

Mr Lee Sheng Kuang, James
Managing Director

Mr Lee Sheng Kuang, James, aged 69, is a founder of the
Group and the Managing Director and a member of the
Investment Committee of the Company. Mr Lee is responsible
for all day-to-day corporate management matters. He is also
responsible for planning and developing the Group’s strategy.
Mr Lee has over thirty years of experience in the manufacture
and distribution of apparel products.

l-l O Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1B E £ R AR L 5
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Mr Tang Chak Lam, Charlie
Executive Director

Mr Tang Chak Lam, Charlie, aged 54, is a member of both
the Remuneration Committee and the Investment Committee
of the Company. He is responsible for the overall financial
operation of the Group. He has extensive audit experience
with one of the big four international accounting firms. Prior
to joining the Group in November 1999, Mr Tang was the
head of finance and accounting of a conglomerate with
subsidiaries listed on the NASDAQ in the United States and
the Australian Stock Exchange Limited and the China division
of another conglomerate listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr
Tang is a certified public accountant in Hong Kong, and is a
fellow member of both the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in the United Kingdom.

Mr Liu Run
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr Liu Run, aged 39, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director in May 2015 and is a member of the
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company. He has extensive experience in
IT and internet industry and corporate management. He was
the Strategic Alliance Director of Microsoft (China) Co., Ltd.,
where he had worked as project manager, team manager and
general manager of Microsoft Technology Centers in Jiangxi,
Shenzhen and Jiangsu for about 14 years. In 2013, Mr Liu
founded the Shanghai Run2Me Management Consulting Co.,
Ltd., which currently provides private or strategic consultancy
to senior executives of listed companies, large multinational
companies and internet entrepreneurs. He has been a council
member of Shanghai Song Ching Ling Foundation, a special
member of Hong Kong Centum Charitas Foundation, a co-
founder of Quangongyi and the founder of Donate Hour
Charity. Mr Liu was named in the Marquis Who’s Who in the
World of 2009. He is active in writing articles and books,
giving seminars and training and through consultancy, helping
traditional companies in transforming to internet age. He is the
author of many best selling books. Mr. Liu holds a Bachelor
of Sciences degree from Nanjing University and MBA from
Fudan University.
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Mr Tong Tang, Joseph
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr Tong Tang, Joseph, aged 56, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director in July 2013, and is the
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee, a member of
both the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of
the Company. Mr Tong has nearly 30 years of experience in
the financial services industry. He was an executive director
of Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited, a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, for the period from 4
December 2003 to 25 January 2016. During this period, he
held various positions including Chief Executive Officer of the
Capital Markets and Institutional Brokerage. He previously
held senior positions with a number of international banks
and financial institutions, including ABN AMRO Bank, CCIC
Finance Limited, Bain & Co. Securities Limited and Bali
International Finance Limited. Mr Tong is also an independent
director of Jih Sun Financial Holding Co., Ltd (and two of its
subsidiaries), the shares of which are listed on the Gre Tai
Securities Market (GTSM) in Taiwan. Mr Tong has a Bachelor’s
Degree in Social Sciences from the University of Hong Kong
and a Master’'s Degree in Business Administration from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong, and is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Mr Yau Wing Yiu
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr Yau Wing Yiu, aged 49, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director in July 2011 and is the Chairman of
the Audit Committee, a member of both the Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. He
has extensive experience in financial management, corporate
finance and investment. Mr Yau was the partner and Chief
Financial Officer of AID Partners Capital Limited which is
a private equity investment fund. Mr Yau also worked for
various listed companies in Hong Kong and overseas and
a number of international investment banks. He served as
an executive director of China Strategic Holdings Limited, a
Company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange,
for the period from December 2009 to January 2013. He
was an executive director, independent non-executive director
and chief financial officer of China Everbright Water Limited
(formerly known as HanKore Environment Tech Group
Limited), whose shares are listed on the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited. Mr Yau is an associate member
of American Institute of Certified Public Accountant and
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an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountant. He holds a Master Degree of Business
Administration in Finance from The Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology, Graduate School of Business and
a BA (Hons) in Business Studies from The City University of
Hong Kong.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company’s
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the
Company and the director’s connected party had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the directors of the Company has engaged in or were
interested in any business which competed or was likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’

INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY

SPECIFIED UNDERTAKING OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY OTHER ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2015, the interests of the directors of
the Company in the shares of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept under section 352 of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
in the share capital of the Company

- MR

& & D ik
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B FR T
B =7 3
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R-ZZE—RF+_A=+—B REZF
FRHEGH (BHFRBEEG ) EXV
HEIRIGREATHEF 2 E MR
BB E LR TAESEHITESLRR D
FAZ ST R (RSP A R AR 7 M B
RETBEH BN ARAREEHEEAR
RO ZERINT

RAATIRAPEREEIOET ZE
BixziFa

Number of shares/underlying shares

i/ HERREE
Percentage of
Personal Corporate Total issued share
Name of director Capacity interests interests interests capital
HERT
EEfE 56 EAER ATHER Bz KRFEHIL
Mr Li Haifeng Interest of a controlled — 404,944,690 404,944,690 49.5
corporation (Note 1) (Note 1)
IR REHEE 2 (1) (k1)
Beneficial owner 4,235,294 - 4,235,294 0.51
EGEAA
Mr Lee Sheng Kuang, James Beneficial owner 3,176,471 - 3,176,471 0.38
FHrrst EGEAA
Mr Tang Chak Lam, Charlie Beneficial owner 1,068,824 - 1,058,824 0.12
BERLE EaEAA
Mr Yau Wing Yiu Beneficial owner 698,235 - 698,235 0.08
BB BELE EsEBAA
Note: B 5 -

1. The shares were held by Dragon Peace Limited, which was wholly

owned by Mr Li Haifeng.
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All the interests stated above represent long positions. Save
as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company, its subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries, its parents
company or its other associated corporations a party to any
arrangement to enable the directors and chief executives
of the Company (including their spouse and children under
18 years of age) to hold any interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or its specified undertakings or other associated
corporation.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2015, the interests of the substantial
shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules), other than
directors or chief executives, of the Company in the shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 336 of part XV the SFO were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
in the share capital of the Company

EXFritz BRI BITR - B EX
FriEEEIN - KRFEEATMER  AQ
A ETFRE - BETRE - ERAA
SEEMBHBAERENAE LT HE
MEFR—F  MEZELHEFELARNES
MEmITBA B (B ERE &185% A
TFZ)NARE - IR ESEH
fthEBEEE 2R m - ARG HERE
BREBEAERIORE -

IR REFAS 6 - HE IR
R i

RZE—RAF+_A=+—HB  REZF
E N EIEPIEXVEIEI36IE R TEEAT
HBEz2ERMATRLE  ARBEERR
(ERR ETRADBRESHERITH
ABINBEBEARRRIRB ZEZWOT

REQTDRFPEHREEIOETZE
BRzFR

Number of Percentage of

ordinary issued share

Name of shareholder Capacity shares capital
T iE i HE#ET

L g 5 & B% 4 8 B RAEBSSL
Dragon Peace Limited Beneficial owner 404,944,690 49.5
(Note 1) (Note 1)

ERBEAA (Pt E1) (Pt E1)

Note:

1. The shares were held by Dragon Peace Limited, which was wholly
owned by Mr Li Haifeng. These interests were duplicated with
the interests of Mr Li Haifeng as disclosed in the section headed
“INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS”.

All the interests stated above represent long positions. Save
as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, none of
the substantial shareholders, other than directors or chief
executives, of the Company had any interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept under section
336 of Part XV of the SFO.
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INTERESTS OF OTHER PERSONS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “DIRECTORS’
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY SPECIFIED
UNDERTAKING OF THE COMPANY OR ANY OTHER
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION” and “SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY”
above, the register required to be kept under section 336
of Part XV of the SFO shows that as at 31 December 2015,
the Company had not been notified of any other person who
had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

The change in the information of directors of the Company,
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1)
of the Listing Rules, is as follows:

On 26 January 2016, Mr Tong Tang, Joseph, an independent
non-executive director of the Company, resigned as an
executive director of Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited (“SHK”), a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange,
and the chief executive officer of the Capital Markets and
Institutional Brokerage of SHK.

Mr Yau Wing Yiu, an independent non-executive director
of the Company, resigned as the chief financial officer of
China Everbright Water Limited, formerly known as HanKore
Environment Tech Group Limited, a Company listed on the
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited on 1 June
2015.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other information

required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS TEHRERRER
The percentages of purchases and sales for the year attributable AEBXTEHEREREPRFAMGEZ
to the Group’s major suppliers and customers are as follows: KELEERS AT :
()  Purchases ®KiE
— the largest supplier — mAHERY 29.8%
— five largest suppliers combined — AR EE A 67.6%
(i) Sales iHE
— the largest customer — BAEP 57.8%
— five largest customers combined — AREFP &R 97.5%

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder of
the Company (which to the knowledge of the directors owns
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest
in the major suppliers or customers noted above at any time
during the year.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors of the
Company, as at the date of this Annual Report, the public
float of the shares of the Company is sufficient.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws or the Laws of Bermuda.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION OF BUSINESS
REVIEW

Addition information of business review is set out on pages
11 to 17 under Management Discussion and Analysis of this
Annual Report.

EVENT AFTER BALANCE SHEET DATE

Event after balance sheet date of the Company during the
year is set out in Note 31 to the financial statements.
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Report of the Directors EE & &

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS EETME R X

At no time during the financial year and up to the date of EHBREFEEANBEEARAREBEIEER
this report, there was or is, any permitted indemnity provision B - OARBRKESRBERNEME
being in force for the benefit of any of the directors of the EFBERXERANARNESN A
Company or an associated company. - YNCIIC

AUDITOR ¥ By Aif

The financial statements have been audited by APHEBRROEHELFH KESETAE
PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, offer EETE/IZ - IZ B EmET - TR
themselves for re-appointment in the forthcoming Annual FEEREERRBFAGREIZET -
General Meeting.

On behalf of the Board REEFE

Lee Sheng Kuang, James EFAETE

Managing Director FX

Hong Kong, 29 February 2016 HEE —ET-RE-_AZT+NA
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Independent Auditor’s Report ¥& 37 #% 2Bl ¥k &

_
pwc

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CARRY WEALTH
HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Carry Wealth Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 51 to
120, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at
31 December 2015, and the consolidated income statement,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit and to
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.
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Independent Auditor’s Report ¥& 3 #% 2 i ¥R &

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation of consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made
by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the financial position of the Company
and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2015, and of their
financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 29 February 2016

5 D Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1B E £ R AR L 5

KMEREZTESFMASHRONEL
B EAETE o HFERNERKEAM
BTBERAE  WHREMMITERT N
FEBESAVEREREAFEML
{Al 5 X #8 RR BR L

B RBITIEFUNERA BT
BEMHESBLRBEERNENERRE -
PTIE TE B0 A2 Fr BUR O Z BBV HI T - &
RS R IEF SR AR M B B & B 75
BARFHEERNERRANER - £ ¥
h % B R - 2 B E B R AR R
HRFAMBHRRAMELEEMA TR
BRABRA RV NI - ARRFHE B EFT
B BEMNLIFARRARZENNE
MEELRBR - B NBRENEESM
RASBERN A @EE MR g
AAEEN - AR EREMBHRERN
EEHmy e

RIPIIALE - RAFMEGHERERL
S 4t

o

BER

BMRE  ZEREUERERERES
B BREENEEMAERE &
NI RENBRARN _ZE—RHF+_A
—+t—HBNFBERAREEHEZA L
FEMPBRAKASRE WEIEKR
BBRCRAMEPID MW ER T L AERR -

BERBKEE SR
2=y
B —E-RF-A-TANH



Consolidated Income Statement #r& U AR FE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B Z2=—F—hF+—_A=+—RHILFE

2015 2014
—E-AE| —T—NF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Lhgzs FHET FHET
Revenue W & 5 120,695 153,176
Cost of sales HE KA 7 (111,569) (119,768)
Gross profit E A 9,126 33,408
Other (losses)/gains Hh(FB), s 6 (215) 540
Selling expenses HERAX 7 (2,804) (3,557)
Administrative expenses THAX 7 (41,581) (44,625)
Impairment loss of properties, M- - BERZREZ
plant and equipment VERIEN SR 14 (2,035) —
Operating loss K BT 1R (37,509) (14,234)
Finance income B E WA 8 560 991
Loss before income tax B BT 15 %% Al /&5 48 (36,949) (13,243)
Income tax expenses FRE M F 9 (1,034) (1,481)
Loss for the year RARIERFTFBA
attributable to equity holders of the &1 &F E 518
Company (37,983) (14,724)
Loss per share attributable to the HFREAANRFEZIFAEA
equity holders of the Company for  fE{5 &R E 18
the year
— basic (HK cents) — EARGEM) 10 (4.68) (1.90)
— diluted (HK cents) — 5% (BAL) 10 (4.68) (1.90)

The accompanying notes on pages 58 to 120 are an integral
part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income #r& & E W A &K

For the year ended 31 December 2015 &&= ==

—hAFt+—A=+—BLFE

2015 2014
—T-AF —
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FHET
Loss for the year FEEE (37,983) (14,724)
Other comprehensive income: Han2mEU A
ltem that will not be reclassified HETRIENMEEBRRL
subsequently to profit or loss THH
Fair value gain, net of tax: ANAEWZ - ABRFE:
— properties, plant and equipment — ¥ BEAEE 1,104 2,401
ltem that may be reclassified to profit AIEFHEEEZRZ
or loss HH
Currency translation differences PE 5 = 58 (1,872) (21)
Other comprehensive income for the FEHEMEAKA -
year, net of tax HBR 18 (768) 2,380
Total comprehensive loss for the year ARG RS EBEABGEE
attributable to equity holders of the FHEBRE
Company (38,751) (12,344)

The accompanying notes on pages 58 to 120 are an integral
part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet %6 B EBE X

As at 31 December 2015 R=ZT—hHF+=-A=+—8H

2015 2014
“T-AE| —T—NF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 33 FER F& T
ASSETS &E
Non-current assets REBEE
Properties, plant and equipment W HENEE 14 52,763 58,610
Land use rights + b A 15 14,358 15,705
67,121 74,315
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 17 22,585 25,087
Trade and other receivables B 5 K H fth & YK IE 18 15,379 25,440
Financial assets at fair value BEARBEFABREZ
through profit or loss TREE 19 121,639 113,687
Bank deposits RITIFE K 20 - 7,949
Cash and cash equivalents RekBHEEFEIER 21 88,378 110,625
247,981 282,788
Total assets HEE 315,102 357,103
EQUITY i
Capital and reserves attributable HAA T #ERIFHFAEEZ
to the Company’s equity BARRF#E
holders
Share capital IR AR 24 81,804 80,470
Other reserves H b 26 205,901 202,720
(Accumulated losses)/retained (Rt REBAF
earnings (7,077) 30,906
Total equity gL 280,628 314,096
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Consolidated Balance Sheet 8 EEAEB &

As at 31 December 2015 R=ZT—hHF+=-A=+—8H

2015 2014
—E-AFE | —T—MNHF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 Fi#&ET FET
LIABILITIES BfE
Non-current liabilities EFEHER
Deferred income tax liabilities BEEFABHAE 22 7,127 8,240
Current liabilities RENBE
Trade and other payables B 5 N H AR IR 23 24,832 34,767
Income tax payable T PTIS 2,515 —
27,347 34,767
Total liabilities HEE 34,474 43,007
Total equity and liabilities HESRERE 315,102 357,103
Net current assets MBEEFE 220,634 248,021

Lee Sheng Kuang, James

Tang Chak Lam, Charlie

Fhit ER
Managing Director Executive Director
EEETE HITEE

The accompanying notes on pages 58 to 120 are an integral
part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity %R &

For the year ended 31 December 2015 &&= ==

—hAFt+—A=+—BLFE

Attributable to equity holders

of the Company

BB ZE K

NElEmFER ARG
Share Other Retained
capital reserves earnings Total
N H & R EB BT RET
(Note 26)
(Bt 5 26)
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
T FET T FET
Balance at 1 January 2014 RZE—MFE—A—H&# 53,541 94,744 45147 193,432
Comprehensive income 2HEEA
Loss for the year FEEE - — (14,724) (14,724)
Other comprehensive income Hfh2mEKA
Fair value gain, net of tax: NAEWRE  NBRBIE:
— properties, plant and equipment — M¥E BEEEE — 2,401 = 2,401
Currency translation differences 5 =% — (21) — (21)
Total other comprehensive income HAb =M A B8 — 2,380 — 2,380
Total comprehensive loss >HEEBEHE - 2,380 (14,724) (12,344)
Transactions with owners BEBANETZIRS
Issuance of shares pursuant to a rights 18 # { B% 2% 77 B 1
issue 26,770 105,136 — 131,906
Employees share option scheme e B AR RE 5T &
— Value of employee services — EERBEE — 473 — 473
— Exercise of share options — (TR AR 159 470 - 629
— Lapse of share options — MR R — (483) 483 -
Total transactions with owners, HEGANETZRSERE
recognised directly in equity ERERERER 26,929 105,596 483 133,008
Balance at 31 December 2014 R-ZB—ME+-A=+—H#&#% 80,470 202,720 30,906 314,096

The accompanying notes on pages 58 to 120 are an integral
part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity #r & & & 8 K

For the year ended 31 December 2015 &&= ==

—hAFt+—A=+—BLFE

Attributable to equity holders
of the Company

EATIERTAANEN
Retained
earnings/
Share Other (accumulated
capital reserves losses) Total
REBEH
BEx HibfEE (REtEBER) st
(Note 26)
(Pt £ 26)
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET T#&ET TET
Balance at 1 January 2015 RZE—RAF—HA—H&H% 80,470 202,720 30,906 314,096
Comprehensive income 2HE KA
Loss for the year FEEE = - (37,983)  (37,983)
Other comprehensive income Hi2mlkA
Fair value gain, net of tax: AnEMKE - NBRFEIE:
— properties, plant and equipment — Y% - BENRE - 1,104 - 1,104
Currency translation differences & 5 E=% = (1,872) = (1,872)
Total other comprehensive income — E b & T W A 4858 = (768) — (768)
Total comprehensive loss ZHE BB - (768) (37,983)  (38,751)
Transactions with owners HEBANETZRS
Employees share option scheme e B AR RE 5T &
— Exercise of share options — 1T{E R 1,334 3,949 - 5,283
Total transactions with owners, Eﬁi%*ﬁ_)\ﬁﬁz X5 HBEE -
recognised directly in equity BEERNERER 1,334 3,949 - 5,283
Balance at 31 December 2015 RoB—RE+-A=+—H&EH 81,804 205,901 (7,077) 280,628

The accompanying notes on pages 58 to 120 are an integral
part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 48R & R E X

For the year ended 31 December 2015 &&= ==

—hAFt+—A=+—BLFE

2015 2014
—¥-1fF —E
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B & FERT FAETT
Cash flows from KEFTBZHREREH
operating activities
Cash used in operations KEMAZRA® 27 (35,423) (123,309)
Net cash used in operating activities KEEBFTAER  FE (35,423) (123,309)
Cash flows from BREGSHZHRSRE
investing activities
Decrease/(increase) in bank deposits B (38 0) R 1T 17 3K 7,949 (119)
Purchase of properties, BEME BEKRE
plant and equipment (1,879) (1,104)
Proceeds from disposal of properties, HEWE - KENRE
plant and equipment Fir 1% K38 224 244
Interest received 24 F B 560 991
Net cash generated from KREEZHEARS FH
investing activities 6,854 12
Cash flows from financing activities B & EE 2R &R
Proceeds from issuance of shares Ui T)%{ IR ZITIRAD P13
pursuant to a rights issue, net of FIE - IREEER
related fees = 131,906
Proceeds from exercise of share 1TIE B AR PR 1S BIR
options 5,283 629
Net cash generated from BMEERHELARSFE
financing activities 5,283 132,535
Net (decrease)/increase in HeRR&FEEHZ
cash and cash equivalents FORD), i (23,286) 9,238
Cash and cash equivalents at FVRekAEEFEE
beginning of the year HH 110,625 101,408
Exchange gains/(loss) on cash RekREFMBEIEAE
and cash equivalents ZER W
(&) 1,039 (21)
Cash and cash equivalents FEREERAEEEH
at end of the year I5H 88,378 110,625

The accompanying notes on pages 58 to 120 are an integral
part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Carry Wealth Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Group”) manufacture and trade garment products and
engage in securities investment. The Group has production facilities in
Mainland China.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda and
is listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The address
of its registered office is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM 11, Bermuda.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in units of Hong
Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.

These consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue
by the Board of Directors on 29 February 2016.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The basis of preparation and the principal accounting policies applied
in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied for all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”). The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, as modified by the revaluation of buildings (Note 2.5
and 14) and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Notes 2.8 and 19), which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, and areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

5 B Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 = 12 % & R 2 5
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #& ¥ 3% [ 5+

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

@

()

Amended standards adopted by the Group

Amended standards and interpretations, mandatory for
the first time for the financial year beginning 1 January
2015 but which currently do not have significant impact
on the Group’s reported results of operation and financial
position (although they may affect the accounting for
future transactions and events).

e Amendment to HKAS 19, “Defined benefit plans:
employee contributions”

e Annual Improvement Project, “Annual Improvements
2012”

e Annual Improvement Project, “Annual Improvements
2013”

New and amended standards and interpretations that
have been [ssued but are not effective for the financial
year beginning 1 January 2015 and have not been early
adopted

e Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38,
“Clarification of acceptable methods of depreciation
and amortization™’

e Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 41,
“Agriculture: bearer plants”

e HKFRS 9, “Financial instruments”?

e  Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, “Sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture”!

e Amendment to HKFRS 11, “Accounting for
acquisitions of interests in joint operations™
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #& ¥ 3% [ 5+

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

©)

(©)

New and amended standards and interpretations that
have been issued but are not effective for the financial
year beginning 1 January 2015 and have not been early
adopted (Continued)

e  Amendment to HKAS 27, “Equity method in separate
financial statements™

e Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS
28, “Investment entities: applying the consolidation
exception”

e  Amendment to HKAS 1, “Disclosure initiative™

e HKFRS 14, “Regulatory deferral accounts™

o HKFRS 15, “Revenue from contracts with

customers”?

e  Annual Improvement Project,
2014

“Annual improvements

! effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2016

3 effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2018

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the impact of adoption of the above new and amended
standards and interpretations but is not yet in a position
to state whether they would have a significant impact on
its results of operation and financial position.

New Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622)

In addition, the requirements of Part 9 “Accounts and
Audit” of the new Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622) come into operation during the financial
year, as a result, there are changes to presentation and
disclosures of certain information in the consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #& ¥ 3% [ 5+

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF 2 BEEERFTESTIBEREME

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) (48)
2.2 Subsidiaries 2.2 EBAT
2.2.1 Consolidation 221 &8 kE

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred
to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases.

(a) Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations. The consideration transferred for
the acquisition of a subsidiary is the aggregate fair values
of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration transferred
includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement. |dentifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are measured initially
at their fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis.
Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are measured at either fair value or
the present ownership interests’ proportionate share in
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair
value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising
from such re-measurement are recognised in profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #& ¥ 3% [ 5+

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Ec

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

2.2.1 Consolidation (Continued)

@

©)

Business combinations (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 39 either in profit
or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.

The excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of
any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair
value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded
as goodwill. If the total of consideration transferred,
non-controlling interest recognised and previously held
interest measured is less than the fair value of the net
assets of the subsidiary acquired, in the case of a bargain
purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the
income statement.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated. When necessary,
amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to
conform with the Group’s accounting policies.

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without
change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions — that is, as transactions with the owners of
the subsidiary in their capacity as owners. The difference
between fair value of any consideration paid and the
relevant share acquired of the carrying amount of net
assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or
losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also
recorded in equity.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #& ¥ 3% [ 5+

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)
2.2.1 Consolidation (Continued)
(c) Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained
interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value
at the date when control is lost, with the change in
carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair
value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained interest. In
addition, any amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss.

222 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company
at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

2.3 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified collectively as the board of directors
that makes strategic decisions.

2

GREERIZESHBRBE
(8)

2.2 MB2AE ()

221 HRERE (&)

(

M E B 2 Al

fi AN SR B S B A IR - E
RZEBZEMREBRRR
HERXERGNBEAZAREE
MAtE MEEEZSHANE
mARTER - SR EEEERA
EME - AR EE ST RE
18 ° b Hh - SRl R E b 2= H
ANEREZERARZEM
CHEEBNAEECERHE
FEREERBBEZTAAR-
EHREBERE LA MEE
WARER 2 CREFDRE
Bak -

222 B I HREK

/N

AIRKE AR 2 R E TR KA

HERERAR KABRRER
BREZKA - BARZEET
BAR R E WA R R S ARR

i &

WEE B & I B ik S

MERRNEIREEHEZ 2EK
ABFE - ol f B B S B R PR
ZREREEBLGS M BHE
FEEREAAFEE (BERE) Z
REE AARRHBARZKRE
EATRAE R

2.3 SERE

SEDMARRBEHRTEIREERREN
A

B E

HRNZ A HE - TBEER

REWBBRRETS  BEDRLEED
AREY B R K R 0 RER IR - I SRR

IR TE e

Annual Report 2015 £ [ 5§ & E 3



Notes to the Financial Statements B #& ¥ 3% [ 5+

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation

(@)

(b)

©

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (HK$), which
is the Company’s functional and the Group’s presentation
currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at
year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated profit or loss.

All foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in
the consolidated income statement within “administrative
expenses”.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and
liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value
gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary financial
assets, such as equities classified as available-for-sale, are
included in other comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial positions of all the group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:

() assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are
translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance
sheet;

(i) income and expenses for each consolidated income
statement are translated at average exchange rates; and

(i) all resulting currency translation differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

E: l-l Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 = 12 % & R 2 5

2 GREERIEZESHAHRME

(&)

2.4 HhESEE R

(@

(b)

©

WEER 23 & #

AEESEBZMHRRMAIZ
BB DNERZEBKEMELZE
BRERR2ER (e E¥ DA
B - RAPBRERNETHKSZE
5 MABTRARB ZHERANE
Ez25E% -

\

+

X Z R4

IERXSRRHXIBRENEES
HzERMELTEER - EE I
FERFHEENIE S BB K INE
SAENEREENBEAFRERX
BMEELENENRETEDRE

=71
s ©

FEE L BB TIREERAREK 2
[fTERAXIZS -

FEBUEEREERAEWIHR
ARERARRE2ER) ZTE
EZRNBRRER /A EREK
Bz  FERHERMEE
(Mo BRAHHEZERD) ZITH
ZBNFAAEMEELA -

E - AT

SEETHERAR(ERT ERE
EEREBEEBRZERKI2EE
AR ENNER  HEERY
BARRBROATARAERBZINE
e

() BOHEBNEEEBRMAIE
ElBEREEABREHEA
2T E RS E

(i) BHHEAWAREITIKRA KR
YR PHERHRE &

(i) PR ki E A 2 L Z Y
RE A 2 ARER -



Notes to the Financial Statements B #& ¥ 3% [ 5+

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF 2 BEEERFTESTIBEREME
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) (48)

2.4 SpEEER ()

2.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(¢) Group companies (Continued)

On consolidation, currency translation differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign operation, and
of relevant borrowings, are taken to other comprehensive
income. When a foreign operation is partially disposed or sold,
currency translation differences that were recorded in equity
are recognised in the consolidated income statement as part
of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign entity and are translated at the closing rate.
Currency translation differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

2.5 Properties, plant and equipment

Buildings, comprising mainly factories and offices, are shown at fair
value, as determined by directors based on valuations by external
independent valuers which are performed on an annual basis, less
subsequent depreciation for land and buildings. Any accumulated
depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the
gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated
to the revalued amount of the asset. All other plant and equipment
are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses.

Leasehold land classified as finance lease and all other property,
plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items. Subsequent costs are included in the
asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance
are charged to the consolidated income statement during the
financial year in which they are incurred.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land
and buildings are credited to the fixed asset revaluation reserve in
equity. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset
are charged against fixed asset revaluation reserve through other
comprehensive income and all other decreases are expensed in
the consolidated income statement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #& ¥ 3% [ 5+

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.5

2.6

Properties, plant and equipment (Continued)

Properties, plant and equipment are depreciated at rates sufficient
to write off their cost or valuation to their residual values over their
estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal annual
rates are as follow:

Leasehold land interests Shorter of remaining lease term or
classified as finance estimated useful life

leases
Buildings Lower of 5% or estimated useful life
Leasehold Shorter of lease term or estimated useful
improvements life

10% to 40%
10% to 40%

Plant and machinery

Furniture, office
equipment and motor
vehicles

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within
‘other gains’ in the consolidated income statement.

When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in other
reserves are transferred to retained earnings through other
comprehensive income.

Land use rights

The up-front prepayments made for leasehold land interests
recognised as operating leases and land use rights are expensed in
the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the
periods of the lease or the land use right. When there is impairment,
the impairment is expensed in the consolidated income statement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #& ¥ 3% [ 5+

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.7

2.8

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries and other long-
term non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example, goodwill
— are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment. In addition, all assets are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in
use.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other
than goodwill that suffer an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each subsequent reporting date.

Financial assets
2.8.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
categories: at fair value through profit or loss and loans
and receivables. The classification depends on the purpose
for which the financial assets were acquired. Management
determines the classification of its financial assets at initial
recognition and re-evaluates this designation at every
reporting date.

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is
classified in this category if acquired principally for the
purpose of selling in the short term. Derivatives are also
categorised as held for trading unless they are designated
as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as
current assets if expected to be settled within 12 months;
otherwise, they are classified as non-current.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #& ¥ 3% [ 5+

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF 2 REEERFTESTITBEREE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) (48)
2.8 Financial assets (Continued) 2.8 2REEER)
2.8.1 Classification (Continued) 281 % (4&)

(b) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. They are included in currents assets,
except for the amounts that are settled or expected to be
settle more than 12 months after the end of the reporting
period which are classified as non-current assets. The
Group’s loans and receivables comprise “trade and other
receivables” (excluding prepayments), “bank deposits”
and “cash and cash equivalent” in the balance sheet
(Notes 2.12 and 2.13).

2.8.2 Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade-date — the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially
recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial
assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial
assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially
recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed
in the consolidated income statement. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
investments have expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables
are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the
investments held for trading classified as “financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss”, including net gains/(losses) on
disposal and remeasurement at fair value, are recognised in
the consolidated income statement within “Revenue”. Dividend
income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
is recognised in the consolidated income statement as part
of “Revenue” when the Group’s right to receive payments is
established.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #& ¥ 3% [ 5+

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF 2 BEEERFTESTIBEREME
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) (48)

29 HFHSMTIA

2.9 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not
be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the
normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency
or bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty.

2.10Impairment of financial assets

Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if
there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset
(a “loss event”) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors
or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty,
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation, and where observable data indicate that there is
a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such
as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with
defaults.

For loans and receivables, the amount of the loss is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the
asset is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised in
the consolidated income statement. If a loan or held-to-maturity
investment has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for
measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate
determined under the contract. As a practical expedient, the Group
may measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value
using an observable market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as
an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of
the previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in the
consolidated income statement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #& ¥ 3% [ 5+

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. The
cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises design
costs, raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related
production overheads (based on normal operating capacity). It
excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable
variable selling expenses.

2.12Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary course of
business. If collection of trade and other receivables is expected in
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less allowance for impairment.

2.13Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents
include cash in hand, deposits held at call with bank and other
short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three
months or less.

Deposits held at call with bank with original maturities of three
months or more are classified as “bank deposits”.

2.14 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from
the proceeds.

2.15Trade and other payables

70

Trade and other payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. They are classified as current liabilities if payment
is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of
the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #& ¥ 3% [ 5+

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.15Trade and other payables (Continued)

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

2.16 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred
tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated income statement,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.

(@)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date in the countries where the Company’s subsidiaries
operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to
the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax
Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill, the deferred income tax is not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that
at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using
tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply
when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #& ¥ 3% [ 5+

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

T

2.16 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

(c

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries, except for deferred
income tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not be reversed in
the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on deductible
temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries
only to the extent that it is probable the temporary difference
will reverse in the future and there is sufficient taxable profit
available against which the temporary difference can be
utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income
taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis.

2.17 Employee benefits

()

(i)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which
the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The
Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay
all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the
current and prior periods.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #& ¥ 3% [ 5+

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.17 Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Pension obligations (Continued)

For defined contribution plans, the Group pays contributions
to publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans
on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The Group
has no further payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee
benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a
reduction in the future payments is available.

Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based
compensation plan, under which the entity receives services
from employees as consideration for equity instruments
(options) of the Group. The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of the options is recognised
as an expense. The total amount to be expensed is determined
by reference to the fair value of the options granted, excluding
the impact of any non-market vesting conditions (for example,
profitability, sales growth targets) and non-vesting conditions.
Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions
about the number of options that are expected to vest. The
total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is
the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions
are to be satisfied. At the end of each reporting period, the
entity revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-marketing vesting
conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision of original
estimates, if any, in the consolidated income statement, with
a corresponding adjustment to equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable
transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal value)
and share premium when the options are exercised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #& ¥ 3% [ 5+

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF

7L

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.17 Employee benefits (Continued)

(iv) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement date,
or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in
exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises termination
benefits at the earlier of the following dates: (a) when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and
(b) when the entity recognises costs for a restructuring that
is within the scope of HKAS 37 and involves the payment of
termination benefits. In the case of an offer made to encourage
voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits are measured
pbased on the number of employees expected to accept the
offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end
of the reporting period are discounted to their present value.

2.18 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation
and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not
recognised for the future operating losses.

2.19 Revenue and other income

Revenue from the sales of goods is the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for the sales of goods in
the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. It is recognised on
the transfer of risks and rewards of ownership, which generally
coincides with the time when shipment is made. Revenue is shown
net of value-added tax, returns, rebates and discounts and after
eliminating sales within the Group.

Processing income is recognised when services are rendered.

Net gains/(losses) from security trading arise from the disposal
and remeasurement of financial instruments at fair value through
profit or loss and is included in “Revenue”. All transactions related
to securities trading are recorded in the consolidated financial
statements based on trade dates. Accordingly, only those trade
dates falling within the accounting year have been taken into
account.

Dividend income is recognised when the rights to receive payment
is established.

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis, taking

into account the principal amounts outstanding and using the
effective interest method.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #& ¥ 3% [ 5+

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Leases (as the lessee)

2.21

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of
ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases. Payments made under operating leases, net of any
incentives received from the lessor, are charged to the consolidated
income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease period.

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.
() A person or a close member of that person’s family is related
to the Group if that person:
(1) has control or joint control over the Group;
(2) has significant influence over the Group; or

(3) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Company or its parent.

(i)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(1) The entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

(2) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

(3) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(4) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

(5) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the reporting entity or an
entity related to the reporting entity. If the reporting entity
is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also
related to the reporting entity.

(6) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (i).
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #& ¥ 3% [ 5+

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Related parties (Continued)

(i)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

(7) A person identified in (i)(1) has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of the key management person.

2.22 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s equity holders is recognised
as a liability in the Group’s and Company’s financial statements in
the year in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s
shareholders.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk, price risk and interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group’s financial performance.

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally and has factories and
offices in Hong Kong and Mainland China. Operating
expenses of the Group are primarily denominated in Hong
Kong dollar and Renminbi whereas the Group’s sales are
principally denominated in United States dollar. Thus, the
Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
the translation of Renminbi to Hong Kong dollar.

In the opinion of the directors, the Hong Kong dollar is
reasonably stable against the United States dollar under
the Linked Exchange Rate System, and accordingly, no
sensitivity analysis with respect to the United States dollar
is performed.

The Group has foreign operations, whose net assets
expose the Group to foreign currency translation risks.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #& ¥ 3% [ 5+

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

()

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2015, if Hong Kong dollar had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2014: 5%) against
Renminbi with all other variables held constant, the
Group’s net assets at the year end would have been
HK$3,015,000/HK$3,015,000 (2014: HK$3,470,000/
HK$3,470,000) lower/higher, respectively, mainly as
a result of foreign currency translation differences on
translation of the foreign operation in Mainland China.

Management closely monitors the fluctuations of these
and other currencies and may consider entering into
foreign forward exchange contracts from time to time so
as to better manage these foreign exchange exposures,
when required.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk
because of equity investments held by the Group and
classified on the consolidated balance sheet as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss (Note 19). The
Group is not exposed to commodity price risk. To manage
its price risk arising from investments in equity securities,
the Group diversifies its portfolio, in accordance with the
limits set by the Group.

The Group’s equity investments for trading purpose are
publicly traded or quoted in Hong Kong.

At 31 December 2015, if the listed price, quoted price
or fair value of each equity investment classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss had
appreciated/depreciated by 10%, with all other variables
held constant, the Group’s loss for the year would have
been HK$12,164,000 lower/higher (2014: HK$11,369,000
lower/higher), mainly as a result of unrealised gains/losses
on equity securities classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 MBERER(E)

31 MBEEEREE)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued) (a) WEE (&)

(iii) Interest rate risk

The Group has floating rate interest-bearing bank
deposits. However, the Group’s income and operating
cash flows are substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates. At 31 December 2015, if interest
rates on the interest-bearing bank deposits had been
10 basis points (2014: 10 basis points) higher/lower with
all other variables held constant, the Group’s loss for
the year would have been HK$8,000/HK$8,000 (2014:
HK$11,000/HK$11,000) lower/higher, respectively, mainly
as a result of higher/lower interest incomes on floating
rate bank deposits.

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk of the Group mainly arises from cash and cash
equivalents, deposits and security investments with banks
and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to
customers such as trade receivables. The carrying amount of
these balances in the balance sheet represents the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial
assets.

The Group’s bank deposits are placed with banks and financial
institutions  which are highly reputable with multinational
presences. Investment transactions are executed with financial
institutions with sound credit ratings and the Group does not
expect any significant counterparty risk. Management does
not expect any losses from non-performance by these banks
and financial institutions as they have no default history in the
past.

Debtors of the Group may be affected by the unfavorable
economic conditions and the lower liquidity situation, which
could in turn impact their ability to repay the amounts
owed. Deteriorating operating conditions for debtors may
also have an impact on management’s cash flow forecasts
and assessment of the impairment of receivables. To the
extent that information is available, management has properly
reflected revised estimate of expected future cash flows in
their impairment assessments.

The credit quality of the customers is assessed based on
their financial position, past experience and other factors. The
Group has policies in place to ensure that sales of products
are made to customers with appropriate credit histories.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(c

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had a concentration of
credit risk given that the top 5 customers accounted for 99%
(2014: 99%) of the Group’s total year end trade receivable
balance. However, the Group does not consider that the credit
risk in relation to these customers is significant because these
customers are financially healthy and have no history of default
in recent years.

The Group performs periodic credit evaluations of its
customers. The Group’s historical experience in collection of
trade and other receivables is good and management is of
the opinion that provision for uncollectible receivables is not
necessary as at 31 December 2015 and 2014.

Liquidity risk

The Group meets its day to day working capital requirements,
capital expenditure and financial obligations through cash
inflow from operating activities and issue of new shares.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into
relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period
at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date.
The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months
equal their carrying balances, as the impact of discounting is
not significant.
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FR-F-mE+-A=+-8"

BE R A AME R

T {EH B

FBELAR

AEEFREEETHZ2HAERA
gﬁ&?&ﬁ%ﬁﬂxﬂgﬁﬁ”ﬁ“ BE M
BARALZRMBEEE -

ROMAEEZEHEE B
EEiiSiEi(:.\’] FH1 B 2 R 4 5 P
RREB D BAERNETON - T
REBZRRANARBARDIR
B mRBRZFETK  HUE
ToEARNB P2 ERESRER
HE e

Within 1 year Total
—ER st
HK$'000 HK$’000
FH& T FH& T
Trade and other payables, B 5 & H M FE 538

at 31 December 2015 R-ZE—RF +7H =+—H 24,832 24,832

Trade and other payables, B 5 & H A FE FRIE -
at 31 December 2014 RZZE—NME+_A=+—H 34,767 34,767
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2

3.3

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Fair value estimation

The table below analyses the Group’s financial instruments carried
at fair value as at 31 December 2015 by level of the inputs to
valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Such inputs are

3 MBEMERGE)

32 B EKER

3.3

AEENESEERE  BREAEE
BRMESE  ARKRREHEDHMAE
R A ARG - RIS ER A=
MERNGEBAREE KA -

RTHRTRHBEERGER  AEEARE
BREBEXMNTRREZREEE - ARR
DIKNBEARRE  BITHBRIHEEE
LARARAR 75 ©

AREZEE
TREIN IR ED R EHMBEERMN

BWABHEROMAEENR_T—HF
+*ﬁ =t—BR2aAEIRZEMT

categorised into three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows: ﬁﬁiﬁ ABRHZAT=ERQ 1 BEE R

e Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical e HRAEAEXBERREREMSZ
assets or liabilities (level 1). WMECREHAR)(E—) -

e Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that . "B M zmEIN ATEE BN
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, BER)kEEEBRERITEBR
as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2). MEENKBENRABEZR) -

e Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable o HENAGBMNEAERILIEKEA
market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3). BROMSEIEGITI] B R A

BR)(E=/) -
Level 1
E—4
HK$°000
FET

Assets & E

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BAREFAEGRERZEMEE

— Trading securities — RH5FH 121,639

B D Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 = 12 % & R 2 5
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 MBERER(E)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AREZHEE)
At 31 December 2014, financial instruments at fair value held by RZFE—WNE+_A=+—H T5H
the Group were as follows: FEERAREHNEZEMIANAT :
Level 1
E—
HK$’000
FHT
Assets BE
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BARBEHABRECeREE
— Trading securities — R5FH3 113,687

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is
based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. A market
is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing
service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual
and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length
basis. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by
the Group is the current bid price. These instruments are included
in level 1.

The carrying values of the Group’s other financial assets, which
are trade and other receivables, bank deposits and cash and
cash equivalents and financial liabilities, which are trade and other
payables, and the Company’s financial assets, which are other
receivables and cash and cash equivalents and financial liabilities,
which is other payables, approximate to their fair values due to
their short maturities.

Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in
an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives)
is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation
technigues maximise the use of observable market data where it is
available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates.
If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are
observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable
market data, the instrument is included in level 3.

The Group’s buildings classified under properties, plant and
equipment are carried at fair value at reporting period end. Details
of the fair value measurement of these land and buildings are
disclosed in Note 14.

RE-—RZz/H TA

RERBERTSESESNEMITARARE

TRBEER ZMISREINE - ERE
AR MEMRESRZN X558 -

B FAAL  EERBEXEER
BES MxFRERKRBAFRZE
BEETZERNERTHEXHE - &M
SRER/RIER - AEERELRE
ELmsRERERZERE - HET
ABEAESE—& -

MREEHARE  NEE 2 Ete R
BENES R EME KRR - RiTF
FARReFReSEBB)ReRHAE
(NE S K EMENFIR) ARARRAE S
MEEGNEMEKFIRARR S KB
SFHFEEB) A E (BIEM B K
BIZEREREEAAREBERE -

RE-—RZ2HMTA

BRARRBERMSEE 2SR TA (N
BITETR) Z AR ETDRBHER
MEEE - M MERMEE A A 85

MISEE(ME) BELOKBEERZE
EhE - MAEERMIAZARERE

ZIHBEERBABRBAUEER
MITAFASE & -

Alze

i —IAKZIHE R AE R IERIZEA]
BEMSHEE  AReRmIANAE=

AEBDBRYME BERREZET
TTRBERRREEIE - ZF L
RBFZARE B ZFBRM 148

ANVIR
= o

8i
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B¢

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed
below.

(@) Income taxes and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and
Mainland China. Significant judgement is required in determining
the provision for income taxes. The Group recognises liabilities
for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax
assets and liabilities in the period in which such determination is
made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences
are recognised as the management of the Group considers it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised. Where
the expectations are different from the original estimates, such
differences will impact the recognition of deferred tax assets in the
period in which such estimates have been changed.

(b) Useful lives, residual values and depreciation of property,
plant and equipment

The management of the Group determines the estimated useful
lives, residual values and related depreciation charges for its
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant
and equipment of similar nature and functions. The management
of the Group will increase the depreciation charge where useful
lives are less than previously estimated lives, it will write-off or
write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have
been abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ from
estimated useful lives; actual residual values may differ from
estimated residual values. Periodic review could result in a change
in depreciable lives and residual values and therefore depreciation
expense in the future period.

Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 = 12 % & R 2 5

S SR RAK

HERABSRSENG  LABELRR
HRZRELE BEERANBATHER
SR ZEHAKRSEMS -

AEBRRRIEHEERBR - EEZER
BEHRER)ELERANBHERER
TXHwAREARSERTETRFEEE
ENEEREEAFHENAEZHERR

=
X

(a)

(b)

Fi 15 B BB E L IR

AEBAGRERBRTEAKREZFRE
B EEMSHBEERFEELERH
i - AEERREEHRBIIDHBIE
AT ERERR AR ETERELEZ
B MERTFELRRHIAR/RE
MRS BIR - AEHEEERSR
BEIREHMZEMRELEREHE
ERBE-

BHETHRKERZETERBEEE  J)
RAEBEERERARBARTRSLER
AR M) LA PR VB 3 3H R B = RR S B IR B
BRER - ME SR ERKGETE
ZE  REERSTEHRMERZE
ERBEE  FHEBMACER -

ME BERREZUERAEYN - 7
MREERITE

AEEEEEREYE - BELRER
EfbETAERES - R EERART
ERX - IR TRRMEE & AEE
MUz BMERREZERAERSF
M2 BERRMEDL - AEBEEER
KA AF DB E 2 il 5t & BB 1E
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and land use
rights

The Group assesses annually whether property, plant and
equipment and land use rights exhibit any indications of
impairment. The recoverable amounts, if required, are determined
based on value-in-use calculations or market valuations. These
calculations require the use of judgment and estimates. The
management’s assessment on impairment of property, plant and
equipment is disclosed in Note 14.

Management judgement is required in the area of asset impairment
particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event has occurred that
may indicate that the related asset value may not be recoverable;
(i) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by
the recoverable amount, being the higher of fair value less costs
to dispose or net present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the asset in the
business; and (iii) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
preparing cash flow projections including whether these cash flow
projections are discounted using an appropriate rate. Changing the
assumptions selected by management in assessing impairment,
including the discount rates, could materially affect the net present
value used in the impairment test and as a result affect the Group’s
financial position and results of operations. If there is a significant
adverse change in the projected performance and resulting future
cash flow projections, it may be necessary to take an impairment
charge to the consolidated income statement.

Buildings in properties, plant and equipment carried at
valuation

Buildings in properties, plant and equipment, comprise mainly
factories and offices, are shown at fair values determined by
directors based on valuations performed by external independent
valuers on an annual basis. In arriving at the valuations, significant
judgement, assumptions and economic estimates have to be made.
The key assumptions applied in the fair value measurement of the
buildings are disclosed in Note 14.

4 FREFAGEERAL &)

(c)

(d)
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in garment manufacturing and trading
and securities investment.

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the board of directors.

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as the Board of
Directors of the Company. Management has determined the operating
segments based on the reports reviewed by the chief operating
decision-maker that are used to assess performance and allocate
resources. The chief operating decision-maker considers the business
principally from the operations nature, with two segments identified:
garment manufacturing and trading segment and securities investment
segment.

The board of directors assesses the performance of the operating
segments based on a measure of adjusted operating results. This
measurement basis includes results of the operating segments before
corporate administrative expenses, finance income and tax, but
excludes material gain or loss which is capital in nature or non-recurring
nature such as impairment.

Revenue recognised during the year is as follows:

I e 53 BB
AEBIBERERXWEREZURELR
& o

BENHMRRENESSRHEZADRS
— Bz ARmE -

'WE?&%%?&E&%H$ AESZEg - §
fi@ﬁ@ﬁm DEBRAREEMZRE
(ARFHERBRIBER)ETEEDT ©
FERERRETENREEREEREER -

WHHMMES: AKBEERES D AR
BHIEEDEL °

EXEERBEEARCEXERETNHEE
DEBZRIL o UL AP A EEBITERF EEITR
X BEWRARBER 2 EED AR E
ErBRBERNEERFERLTEHE 2ERRK
5 B 18 (ARE) °

RERNER 22U RN :

2015 2014
—E—-AF —ZT—mF
HK$°000 HK$’000
TET FHET
Garment manufacturing and trading: RXBERES :
Sale of garment products HEKKE M 103,015 112,396
Processing income T A 16,792 22,558
Sale of scrap materials iHEREE YR 1,862 =
121,669 134,954
Securities investment: BEKE :
Fair value (loss)/gain on financial assets at BARBEFABREZERHE
fair value through profit or loss EAnBE(EE), W= (2,474) 16,929
Dividend income from listed equity securities BLEmRAESRZKREBA 1,500 1,293
(974) 18,222
120,695 163,176

B I'I Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 = 12 % & R 2 5
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT
(Continued)

The segment information for the year ended and as at 31 December

2015 by business segment is as follows:

B 5 ¥R AR MY

INFORMATION

5 WmRSEER (&)

BE-Z—RF+T-A=+—HIEFERR
“E-RF+ZA=t+—H BEZKHII

DD EBERAT :
Garment
manufacturing Securities
and trading investment
segment segment Total
AR HE R EH
BSnE BERE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FTHET FTHET
Revenue Iz 121,669 (974) 120,695
Reportable segment results AR EDBEE (13,201) (9,982) (23,183)
Other losses Hh 518 (215)
Impairment loss of properties, M BERZRHEZ
plant and equipment VERIEN (2,035)
Corporate administrative expenses ETHRAX (12,076)
Operating loss L EE (37,509)
Finance income A& W A 560
Loss before income tax Bk BT 15 56 Bl &S 18 (36,949)
Income tax expenses iR (1,034)
Loss for the year FEEE (37,983)
Reportable segment assets AR EDHEE 126,140 129,599 255,739
Unallocated corporate assets T #E I CEEE 59,363
Total assets HmEE 315,102
Reportable segment liabilities ARESHEE 30,602 2,765 33,367
Unallocated corporate liabilities T PEEE 1,107
Total liabilities wEE 34,474
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WRRDEHEE(E)
(Continued)

%ﬁ?:%*@i%:ﬂEJr HIEFERR
—WE+ZA=+—H BREB DI

The segment information for the year ended and as at 31 December
2014 by business segment are as follows:

ZDEBERAT :
Garment
manufacturing Securities
and trading investment
segment segment Total
B R B iE & B 5
B 55 & wE D E #Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FH T FH T FH T
Revenue I & 134,954 18,222 153,176
Reportable segment results AIREDHEE (9,658) 11,690 2,032
Other gains HMh I 2 540
Corporate administrative expenses TETHALX (16,808)
Operating loss KEBE (14,234)
Finance income A& WA 991
Loss before income tax fﬁfﬁﬁ Tt A& 18 (13,243)
Income tax expense s (1,481)
Loss for the year ¥ &5 18 (14,724)
Reportable segment assets AREDHEE 145,333 139,263 284,596
Unallocated corporate assets TREDEE 2 D EE 72,507
Total assets A E 357,103
Reportable segment liabilities AIRESHERE 36,009 3,702 39,711
Unallocated corporate liabilities Tz bEBE 3,296
Total liabilities wEFE 43,007
B El Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 = 12 % & R 2 5
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT
(Continued)

INFORMATION 5

Revenues of approximately HK$70,321,000 (2014: HK$76,968,000),
HK$30,087,000 (2014: HK$32,917,000) and HK$16,249,000 (2014:
HK$21,536,000) were derived from the top three (2014: three) external

garment manufacturing customers, respectively.

The following table sets out information about the geographical
location of the Group’s revenue and non-current assets. In presenting
the geographical information, revenue is based on the geographical
location of external customers and non-current assets are based on

the geographical location of the assets.

Wz & 53 8B & ¥ (&])

#970,321,0007 Jt (= Z — P4 4F : 76,968,000
# JT) -~ 30,087,0008 jw(= & — I &F:
32,917,0007% 7T ) 516,249,000/ 7T (= Z—Y
£ : 21,536,000/ 7T) 2 am Ty H BIRE= (=
T—UF: =) KIMNBRRKRBEIERFE

TREIEHEAEEKRBRIERBEEZ
B EER o 2THHERE - W THER
SNBE P Z AL E - MIER B & A R ER
BEZMEUE -

Revenue Non-current assets
W 2= REBEE

2015 2014 2015 2014

—F—hEF —E—mF —E—-AEF —ZT—mF

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

THET T T FET T T

United States of America == 52,105 50,762 = —

Mainland China B K 47,986 56,225 66,355 73,411

Europe B 13,347 14,726 - —

Hong Kong B 2,511 21,179 766 904

Rest of World R At i [ 4,746 10,284 - —

120,695 163,176 67,121 74,315

6 OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS 6 Hib(EE) i

2015 2014

—E—AF —ZT-mE

HK$°000 HK$’000

THET TFA T

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HKB ARz = 358
(Loss)/gain on disposal of properties, LHEMZE BMERZHEZ

plant and equipment (B18) W= (215) 182

Total other (losses)/gains Hihxa(EE), W (215) 540
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EXPENSES BY NATURE

Notes to the Financial Statements B #& ¥ 3% [ 5+

7 RUEESEBEZHAX

Operating loss is stated after crediting and charging the following: KEBEEFTARMBRTIZEENNMT
2015 2014
—ET-iafF —T—NEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
TFET FH& T
Raw materials used 5 2 R # 41,667 48,102
Changes in inventories of finished goods and R mNMFERKRZ
work in progress FE ) 2,006 (1,401)
Depreciation of properties, ¥ BERZHEZ
plant and equipment (Note 14) 1 & (Fff 5E14) 4,796 4,711
Amortisation of land use rights (Note 15) 4 4 R4 2 B 8E (9 3E15) 364 364
Employee benefit expense (excluding directors’ EERAMAX
emoluments) (Note 12) (TBREEEME) (M E12) 63,785 66,963
Directors’ emoluments EE N 6,058 6,704
Operating lease rentals — land and buildings KEHERS — T HEEF 2,176 1,918
Auditors’ remuneration % SR B &
— Audit services — BT BRT 1,148 1,113
— Non-audit services — FEHFFRB 135 120
Securities management and performance fees BEHEERRREH 1,814 2,884
Securities brokerage and transaction fees BHERECRERRS5ER 1,034 804
Impairment loss of properties, plant and equipment ¥ % - B = K &R & 2 BEEE 2,035 —
Others Hith 30,971 35,668
Total cost of sales, selling expenses, administrative &K A - #HERS « THHASZ
expenses and impairment loss of properties, plant LARMZE - HEK&E
and equipment ZREEERE 157,989 167,950
8 FINANCE INCOME 8 BMEWA
2015 2014
=l T —mEF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET T T
Finance income on short-term bank deposits HHEBRTERZBRERA 560 991

B B Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 = 12 % & R 2 5
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INCOME TAX EXPENSES 9

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2014:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit for the year. The operation
in Mainland China is subject to Mainland China corporate income tax
at the rate of 25% for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: 25%).

The amount of income tax charged to the consolidated income
statement represents:

FiieBim <

BEBFEHHBEFAMGAERFET - &
TR E16.5% (ZZF — U4 : 16.5%) sHHe B & -
BE_Z—HE+-_A=+—RHIEE &
B K PE 75 7812 25% i K (ZZF — U4 : 25%)

BRI ARECRAEN -

HEZARARRZAEHERR

2015 2014
—F—-hEF —Z—mF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT

Current income tax EHIFTSH
— Hong Kong profits tax — BENEH (2,515) —
Deferred income tax (Note 22) i 3 P 15 4 (BT 5£22) 1,481 (1,481)
Income tax expenses T8 B (1,034) (1,481)

The tax on the Group’s loss before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average tax rate
applicable to profits of the consolidated entities:

AEBEBRMSHAER ZHBA B R RBE
SEREMNERZINE TSR EMEL ZHE

Fk

2015 2014

-l —E—NNF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FET

Loss before income tax BT 15 %1 A1 5 18 36,949 13,243
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable to AT £ B 5 2 )& Fll 32 & i

profits in the respective countries HRAMETE 2FHIE 7,513 3,080

Income not subject to tax HEIB R 2 WA 1,465 370

Expenses not deductible for tax TAH 2 F X (2,733) (3,103)

Unrecognised tax losses RAERHIEEE (7,279) (1,828)

(1,034) (1,481)
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9 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued) 9 FiEHHEAXE)
The tax charge relating to components of other comprehensive income £ 5 fth 2 TR U A 28 B 2B 10 75 8 A B 755 R sk m
is as follows: e
2015 2014
—¥-IF —ZT—mEF
Before Tax After Before Tax
tax charge tax tax  charge After tax

BREin BIEBIX RRBIR | BRBA BEMX BBEE
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 [ HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERXT TFTER THER THERL THERL THET

Fair value gains on properties, Mz BERSZEZ
plant and equipment AR ERZE 1,472 (368) 1,104 3,201 (800) 2,401
Other comprehensive income Hip2mEKA 1,472 (368) 1,104 3,201 (800) 2,401
Deferred income tax (Note 22) B E B 15 B4 (Pt 35 22) (368) (800)
10 LOSS PER SHARE 10 BRE1E
For the purpose of calculating basic and diluted loss per share, the R EEREAREEEE METFHLB
weighted average number of ordinary shares was adjusted to take into IR AR B E e F AT E BB AR FTol e 2 2 2
account the effects arising from the exercise of share options during TLAGHE o
the year.
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to ERERNBEDRBEARGERFAEAR
equity holders of the Company by the weighted average number of HEBRAFARBEZETEBRRE 2 InEF
ordinary shares in issue during the year. The Company has only one HHHE - ARBEE—REREEHELE
category of dilutive potential ordinary shares: share options. % : RS AR A o
As the dilutive potential ordinary shares of the Company would result HRARRZBEREHERRNEEST
in an anti-dilution of loss per share for the year ended 31 December —hAF+ A=+ HLEFERABERETR
2015 (2014: had no dilutive effect), the diluted loss per share equals EERBEECT—HF-EBELE) ¥
the basic loss per share. BRBEBEBEBESNETREANEIS -
2015 2014
—E-4fF —ZT—pO4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T T
Loss attributable to equity holders of the Company 7R &) # %5 # A A JE1G B 1B (37,983) (14,724)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue © %17 & i Ik i 80 2
(thousands) hnEFH E(FR) 811,170 775,415
Basic and diluted loss per share (HK cents per share) &% & 78 & # 58 &5 18
(&R AL) (4.68) (1.90)

q D Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 = 12 % & R 2 5
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11

12

DIVIDENDS 11 g2

The Company has not declared any dividends for the years ended 31
December 2015 and 2014.

ARAFERRE-T—AFR-F-MF
+=A=t-BALEEZBRE -

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (EXCLUDING 12 EERFEXX(FBREEEN)
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)
2015 2014
—E—AEF —T—pO4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#T FH T
Wages and salaries e kile 58,540 61,975
Share options expense granted to RTEBZERERS
employees (Note 25) (Fff 5£25) - 104
Pension costs RIKE A A 5,245 4,884
63,785 66,963

No forfeited contributions to the mandatory provident fund scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) were utilised during the year (2014: Nil).

There was no contribution payable in relation to the MPF Scheme at
the year end (2014: Nil).

The Group operates/participates in the following pension and post
retirement plans:

(i)  The MPF Scheme for employees in Hong Kong, under which the
Group and its employee each make a monthly contribution to the
scheme at 5% of the qualifying earnings of the employee, subject
to a monthly cap of HK$1,500.

(i)  The Group’s subsidiary in Mainland China contribute approximately
11% of the basic salaries of their employees to retirement schemes
operated by municipal governments. Other than the mandatory
contributions, the Group has no further obligations for the actual
pension payments or any post retirement benefits. The retirement
schemes are responsible for the entire pension obligations payable
to retired employees. In addition, according to the labor law in
Mainland China, the employer is required to pay retirement benefits
to the employees when employment is terminated by the employer
before the normal retirement date.

FRLEHE R G ERE S B (58
BestE DER(CE—mEF: &) -

RERLEEFRE S E 2 BHHR(C
T—MF: ) o

AEEET2ENTRAS RERIKES

2l

() REBEEMRZBEAEARE A
SELERERHARERAERAL
Z5%mEtEIEE AHR - A HRE
PR 451,500/ 7T e

(i) AEERPEAEZMBARRESE
REr & #I1% A T BT R S 2 R ARG 3
TR 23R o BRoa e RN - AR E
W 48 H o B R R S SRR IR AR A 2
E - ZE R EBE 2 BEMNTENK
B B ZRIREAYE  ttoh - RIRAE K
Ez88%  EXERNEEERERNKA
HAR ILERES - AIARES R
SR

o
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13

92

BENEFIT AND INTEREST OF THE DIRECTORS
(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

The remuneration of every director and the chief executive is set
out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2015:

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as

13 ESEEARER

() EERERRTHAEMS

ZEERERITHRABZME 5 &m0
T

HE-F-BEFT-A=t+—ALFE:

REEAARREMBARNEEREZ

a director, whether of the company or its subsidiary undertaking: ATERNSERSZHE :
Estimated Employer’s
money value contribution
Housing of other to the MPF
Name of Director EENSE Fees  Salary allowance benefits (i) Scheme Total
Hip@Eflz mESE
e BH @ REERE GESEEQ BEHR @zt
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET TET FTET TET THET TERT
Mr Li Haifeng L 120 920 = 37 18 1,095
Mr Lee Sheng Kuang, James FHNRAE 120 539 2,160 101 - 2,920
(Chief executive) (RETHAR)
Mr Tang Chak Lam, Charlie WERLE 120 1,326 - 44 18 1,508
Mr Chen Zhongfa (Resigned on BB EE 101 - - - - 101
3 November 2015) (R-Z—1%
+—A=HET)
Mr Liu Run (Appointed on AREE(R=T—hF 74 - - - - 74
20 May 2015) TA-+REZT)
Mr Yau Wing Yiu, Felix KB EE 240 — — — - 240
Mr Tong Tang, Joseph EEEE 120 - - - - 120
895 2,785 2,160 182 36 6,058

For the year ended 31 December 2014 (Restated):

Certain of the comparative information of directors’ emoluments
for the year ended 31 December 2014 previously disclosed in
accordance with the predecessor Companies Ordinance have been
restated in order to comply with the new scope and requirements
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622).

Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 = 12 % & R 2 5

HE-_ZT—NF+-A=+—HLFE
(BEF) :

BERBICRAGIDAREBRE_F
—HE=ZA=+—HIEFEE=ZME
ETHRAREEERS - UHFEEE(A
A& GIN(556228) 2 B R AR TE -
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13 BENEFIT AND

(Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Continued)

(b)

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as

INTEREST OF THE DIRECTORS 13 EERPIRESE(E)

(@ EERESTBHASHNE (&)

REEARBAREWNBERARNEETRBZ

a director, whether of the company or its subsidiary undertaking: ATERNSERSZHME :
Estimated Employer's
money value contribution
Housing of other to the MPF
Name of Director EEfA Fees  Salary allowance benefits (i) Scheme Total
Hiiadlz wEea 2
e M FEEAN AHEEEE() EEHT Fo
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET Thx THT AT THET  ThAx
Mr Li Haifeng FHELE 120 920 - 153 17 1,210
Mr Lee Sheng Kuang, James THELE
(Chief executive) (BZRITHAE) 120 539 2,160 188 = 3,007
Mr Huang Xuxian, Flynn HBHMEE
(Resigned on 6 June 2014) (R=—E—mF
NASNBER) 52 289 - 79 8 428
Mr Tang Chak Lam, Charlie HEREE 120 1,326 - 44 17 1,507
Mr Chen Zhongfa RAELEE 120 - - 29 - 149
Mr Yau Wing Yiu, Felix BB B & 240 - - 43 - 283
Mr Tong Tang, Joseph BEEE 120 - - - - 120
892 3,074 2,160 536 42 6,704
()  Other benefits include leave pay and share option benefits and () HMENEEEHREBERERH

housing allowances.

During the year, no director has waived any emoluments (2014:

Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements

or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company was a party and in
which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any

time during the year.

N ERR

— PO ) o

BAEANE -
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13 BENEFIT AND
(Continued)

INTEREST OF THE DIRECTORS

(c) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
Group for the year include three (2014: three) directors whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above. The
emoluments payable to the remaining two (2014: two) individuals

13 ESEFIRER (&)

(c)

AEm

BEHMAL

FA AEEZRAEESHFMALEE
=R(CE-mOFEZR)EE - REZMH
EERERDTHRER - FREM T
TRE(CZE-—OF - MA)ALTZHE

during the year are as follows: ONE
2015 2014
—EF-4fF —ZT—mF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET F#& T
Basic salaries, housing allowances, other EAXZF ¢ BEEER -
allowances and benefits-in-kind H Al 2 AL &% B Yl & 1,418 1,339
Contributions to the MPF Scheme BIE ST EI K 36 34
1,454 1,373
The emoluments fell within the following bands: e ENT :

Number of individuals

A8
2015 2014
—E-AF —T—OF
Emolument bands P < &3 [
HK$500,000-HK$999,999 500,000/ J£-999,999/% T 2 2

q l-l Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 = 12 % & R 2 5
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14 PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 M¥ - BERRZE
Furniture,
office
equipment
Leasehold Plant and and motor
Buildings improvements machinery vehicles Total
AL
WAE
& B K2 B'EEPN
g5 HEEE 1 28 AE et
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$O000 HK$000
FAET FET FHETT FABxT FET
At 1 January 2014 R-ZT—ME—A—H
Cost or valuation PSR (=] 51,154 27,800 22,178 31,336 132,468
Accumulated depreciation 2t E RFE
and impairment — (24,636) (19,414) (29,340) (73,390)
Net book amount R EFHE 51,154 3,164 2,764 1,996 59,078
Year ended 31 December HE-_Z—NF
2014 TZA=ET—BLEEE
Opening net book amount BRI BR % B 51,154 3,164 2,764 1,996 59,078
Additions NE = = 51 1,053 1,104
Disposals & — — - (62) (62)
Depreciation e (3,458) 61) (604) (588) (4,711)
Revaluation surplus BHAH 3,201 — — - 3,201
Closing net book amount HiRBR M B 50,897 3,103 2,211 2,399 58,610
At 31 December 2014 RZZE—F
+=—A=+—H
Cost or valuation NN =] 50,897 27,800 22,217 31,498 132,412
Accumulated depreciation 2t ERFE
and impairment — (24,697) (20,006) (29,099) (73,802)
Net book amount AR EFHAE 50,897 3,103 2,211 2,399 58,610
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14 PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 14 Y ¥ - BEREREGR)

Furniture,
office
equipment
Leasehold Plant and and motor
Buildings improvements machinery vehicles Total
R
MAE
B ER RER
¥ HERE e RE @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT TFERT TERT TERT TFERT
Year ended 31 December 2015 #HE_-ZT—F4F
TZA=E+-BLEEE
Opening net book amount HOEmFEE 50,897 3,103 2,211 2,399 58,610
Additions wE = 507 3 1,369 1,879
Disposals HE = - - (439) (439)
Depreciation wE (3,577) (67) (607) (545) (4,796)
Currency translation bE X =%
difference (1,563) (201) (98) (66) (1,928)
Revaluation surplus BHAHK 1,472 - - - 1,472
Impairment B = (504) (975) (556) (2,035)
Closing net book amount HRE®EFE 47,229 2,838 534 2,162 52,763
At 31 December 2015 RZE—HF+=-A=+—H
Cost or valuation Ak G E 47,229 26,626 20,881 29,206 123,942
Accumulated depreciation B MERME
and impairment - (23,788)  (20,347) (27,044) (71,179)
Net book amount BRERE 47,229 2,838 534 2,162 52,763
Depreciation of HK$575,000 (2014: HK$581,000) has been expensed to WEE DRI EE KA X $8575,000% 7T (=
cost of goods sold, HK$60,000 (2014: HK$58,000) has been expensed T — P04 : 581,000/ 7T) « R 8 E R S 8
to selling expenses; and HK$4,161,000 (2014: HK$4,072,000) has been 60,0007 7t (== — /Y 4F : 58,000/ 7t) & iA
expensed to administrative expenses. 17X B 2 37 $54,161,000/8 JT (=& — MU 4F -

4,072,000 7T) °

q El Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 = 12 % & R 2 5
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14 PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

If buildings were stated on the historical cost basis, the amounts would
be as follows:

14 Y% - BERREER)

BT IIRE LKA - HEBMT:

2015 2014

—F—-hEF —Z—mF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHT

Cost B AR 39,044 41,546
Accumulated depreciation = (14,655) (13,727)
Net book amount BREFE 24,389 27,819

The Group’s properties were revalued at 31 December 2015 by Vigers
Appraisal and Consulting Limited, an independent professionally
qualified valuer who holds a recognised relevant professional
qualification and has recent experience in the locations and segments
of the properties valued. For all buildings, their current use equates to
the highest and best use.

The Group’s finance department includes a team that review the
valuations performed by the independent valuer for financial reporting
purposes. This team reports directly to the board of directors.
Discussions of valuation processes and results are held between the
valuation team and valuer annually.

The revaluation surplus net of applicable deferred income taxes was
credited to fixed assets revaluation reserve in shareholders’ equity.

Valuations were made with reference to depreciated replacement cost
approach based on significant unobservable inputs.

AEEZYMEER-_ZE—AF+-_A=+—
BB H XA B h(E R0 AR AT & = T G
BEREBRARENGE  ZLEMTHEER
AIZHBAEXER  BHMAEEYE 2 E
RESBEEORLR HRMERTME
ERZERAEREERREEER -

AEEPBARE—ENE  FERFB R
SEOME B A EM 2 HEETRA - Uk
NABERRAESEER o HE/)EEGERM
BFEIREERENMBEER -

ERBHRHRERBELERSHR AR RE
mPZEEEEEGFR

BEDZEHRERBRANEL EREBEEKRD
ABREZBAERMEDL -
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14 PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The following table analyses the buildings carried at fair value, by
valuation method.

14 Y%  BERREER)

TRAGEEDIMEBEAABIRZET -

Fair value measurements at
31 December 2015 using

R-T—-AfFE+-A=+—HZ

AREFEFRAZEH
Quoted prices
in active Significant
markets for other Significant
identical observable unobservable
assets inputs inputs

HAZEERXER HBEXTHE BEXFTHE
AT ZRE ZHAEH ZHAEH

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(E—R) (E=4) (E5=4)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET
Recurring fair value measurements LEMAREFTE
— Offices and factory buildings held — RPBREREZ
in Mainland China HAERBEEF = — 47,229

The recurring fair value measurements for buildings are included in
level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The Group’s policy is to recognise
transfers into and transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the
date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.
There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 during the year.

The movement of buildings stated at fair value using significant
unobservable inputs (level 3) is as follows:

BFEZRBUDABFEREERAAES
ME=ZF 2R - AEEBRRSNEHEE 2
EHBLERBERE(ER  BREAAAES
RZBAREL - FAF—H F_ERE
=& 2 A R o

BERBEANABR2HABER(F=F) &
EZRARERNZBTEHUOT :

Buildings
BF

2015 2014
—F—-hEF —ZT—mEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FA& T
At 1 January R—B—8 50,897 51,154
Depreciation e (3,577) (3,458)
Net gains from fair value adjustment ARERBELE 2 FRE 1,472 3,201
Currency translation differences & H =5 (1,563) —
At 31 December R+=A=+—8H 47,229 50,897

q B Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 = 12 % & R 2 5
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14 PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

In other comprehensive income, fair value gain of properties, plant and

14 Y% - BERREER)

REMEEKAR - WF  BERREBZA

equipment, net of tax comprise: AEWRE - R EELE:
2015 2014
—EF-4fF —ZT—mEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T T
Net gains from fair value adjustment ARERABEL 2 FRE 1,472 3,201
Deferred income tax (Note 22) i AE AT A5 B (P 7E22) (368) (800)

Total fair value gains for the year included in other T A EH b2 EK A ZER

comprehensive income, net of tax AREBKE - NERFIE 1,104 2,401

The details of significant unobservable inputs are as follows:

Unobservable inputs

FOHEEZHANEH

Range of unobservable inputs

FOHEEZHANEHZEE

EATABEZBABHZHBOT

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value
FOHEZHEANEH
BN fL (B Z FA 1%

Construction costs per square meter

PR A

— Based on the type of building
structure (steel structure/
reinforced concrete structure) and
taking into account market data
on current construction costs
for similar properties located in
nearby cities

— REBEEFHEBEAMGHEE 05
R RE - A5 ) 0 ET S L B B 3T
M2 BUYEBRATEEK AR 2T
%5 & ¥

Economic life of buildings
BF2EBESw

— Taking into account the estimated
useful life of buildings depending
on the building structure (steel
structure/reinforced concrete
structure)

— ARBBREFHEBELGERE
55 R B T A ) 2 BF AR ET A
A H

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the year.

RMB1,241 per square meter for steel
structure and RMB1,342 per square
meter for reinforced concrete structure
HEERE T RARE2417T - S/
BR T EERAE T HRARK 42T

40 years for steel structure and 50 years
for reinforced concrete structure

45 18 R405F - 3 A5R BE - 4518 RB0F
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The higher the construction cost per
square meter, the higher the fair value
BEIARBERRNES  AREES

The longer the useful life , the higher the
fair value

AEAFEHRER  AREER

FABERMHEEZS -
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14 PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Impairment test for properties, plant and equipment

When any indicators of impairment are identified, properties, plant
and equipment are reviewed for impairment based on each cash
generating unit. The cash generating unit is individual manufacturing
plant. The Group’s manufacturing plant in the Mainland China has been
continuously making losses. Challenging market conditions resulting
from a slow recovery in Europe and the United States of America and
contraction in the Mainland China market has led to decline in the
Group’s revenue from and deterioration in profit margin of the garment
trading and manufacturing segment. In view of decline in the segment’s
performance, management has carried out an impairment assessment
by comparing the carrying value of the plant to its recoverable amount,
which is based on value-in-use.

For the plant’s estimated recoverable amount as of 31 December 2015,
the value-in-use calculation uses pre-tax cash flow projections based
on financial budgets and projections approved by management with
an assumption that the related fixed assets will be disposed of at the
end of the forecast period. The assumed growth beyond the fourth
year reflects the estimated growth rate not exceeding the long-term
average growth rate for the business in which the plant operates. Other
key assumptions applied in the impairment test include the expected
improvement in gross profit margin, production costs and related
expenses. Management determined these key assumptions based on
past performance and its expectations on market development. A pre-
tax rate of 11% that reflects specific risks related to the plant was
adopted as the discount rate.

Based on the results of management’s impairment assessment, an
impairment loss of HK$2,035,000 was recognised in the consolidated
income statement for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: Nil).

Impairment losses of HK$504,000, HK$975,000 and HK$556,000 were
allocated to leasehold improvements, plant and machinery and furniture,
office equipment and motor vehicles respectively. No impairment loss
was allocated to the land use rights (Note 15) and buildings.

For the estimated recoverable amount of the plant as of 31 December
2015, a five percentage point increase or decrease in estimated growth
in sales in the first four years, with all other variables held constant,
would result in a 44% and 41% increase or decrease in the estimated
recoverable amount of the plant respectively. A one percentage point
increase or decrease in gross profit margin, with all other variables
held constant, would result in a 36% and 36% increase or decrease
in the estimated recoverable amount of the plant respectively. A one
percentage point increase or decrease in the discount rate, with all other
variables held constant, would result in a 12% and 15% decrease or
increase in the estimated recoverable amount of the plant, respectively.

LD D Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 = 12 % & R 2 5

14 Y%  BERREER)

W BERREZREER

WEEFRPFRBTFTHRBE  BINSRES
ELBUENYE BEERREZRE R
SELAEUABENRERE - AEBLRF
BIREEZ $ERE R ERGER - BN R
EHEEZBATBEAEMSZEHECHART
ﬁ%ﬁ BYAREERKREZREED B2

m FPERARZ A BZAMEERRD o ERZ
“%Z%ﬁﬁﬁ B2 ERE L BEERRK
FziREEEETIKRESEETLER  FX
EITRERE °

ABER_E—AF+-A=+—Bzfla
Al EEHE - EREEEEIDERRERE
BEEEEMSNBARBREE  AREE
B MRS R IR E E 2 T R1IR
EREIRA - BOER ZRRIGR R
BERXTHBBZMEREEEB 2 RATIHE
KX - HERANREAR 2 T ERREE
EMNER - EERARMEBRS 2 BHNE -
ERERBEAEERALEEMSER ZA
%#mﬁﬁfﬁﬁm RERERZ A B2
i E [ B 2 B A A =% 1 ER A AR AR ER K -

BREEEBEEBEZREFGHER  REE=-F—
AE+-_A=+—BLEEEZHARARE
A B #E 32 6 (E 5 182,035,000 7T (ZZ — M
&) o

B 1B & 18504,000/%8 JT * 975,000 T &
556,000 LA R PR EREEE - BEK
B A R RMFL - MARRMBERITE o W ER,
BEEE DB E L i A (K E15) RIEF -

RRZE—RAF+-A=+—BZBWEME
AWEEENS  RENFBEEEER £
FRTRABED 2 - MATA LA & E =
%%T“~Wh%ﬁﬁ%2ﬁd7%@@%
N?MM%&H 1% o EFE EFAHT
BK—EED 2 mATE £ & REXRER
2 h%ﬁf%zﬁﬁT%@i%ﬁ%%m
%% IR A 36% o BRIRE E Ak T B —
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15 LAND USE RIGHTS 15 T b fE A4
The Group’s land use rights represent prepaid operating lease payments AEBZ T EAERKRBBAELEHER
and their net book values are analysed as follows: H HAEESFEITAT:
2015 2014
—F—-hEF —Z—mF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T T
Balance as at 1 January R—A—Bz#&#% 15,705 16,069
Amortisation of prepaid operating lease payments & $4 78 - &8 &
BEZE (364) (364)
Currency translation differences ME W ZFE (983) —
Balance as at 31 December R+ZRA=+—Hz#&&% 14,358 15,705
16 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 16 EHNZEMTIR
The tables below analyse financial instruments by category: TREENTEBMIA:
Financial
assets at fair
Loans and value through
receivables profit or loss Total
BARERA
BERE BERZ
FE Wy 7R 18 SREE et
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TFHET TFHET TFHET
31 December 2015 RZZE—RF
+=—A=+—H
Assets as per balance sheet REEBBRAMICZEE
Trade and other receivables excluding BRENREZES
prepayments K E A FE U 5K IE 13,649 - 13,649
Financial assets at fair value through BEARBEFABERE
profit or loss ZEREE - 121,639 121,639
Bank deposits RITTE = - -
Cash and cash equivalents RekBHESEEEE 88,378 - 88,378
102,027 121,639 223,666
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16 FINANCIAL
(Continued)

INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

16 ZFENZ2E&MIAE)

Other financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
TR 5H AL A 51 BR
ZHib &R EE
HK$°000
TET
31 December 2015 RZZE—hF+=—HA=+—H
Liabilities as per balance sheet REEABRMIZEE
Trade and other payables B 5 & E e K18 24,832
Financial
assets at fair
Loans and value through
receivables profit or loss Total
BRAREA
BER & Bamik2Z
JE W 5k IR TEEE #Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FA T FA T FA T
31 December 2014 RZZT—MF
+=—A=+—H
Assets as per balance sheet REEBBRMIZEE
Trade and other receivables excluding RENMREZESR
prepayments H b fE U 3R IR 22,323 — 22,323
Financial assets at fair value through EARBEFAEZEK
profit or loss ZERMEE — 113,687 113,687
Bank deposits HRITIF 7,949 — 7,949
Cash and cash equivalents HeRIREEEEE 110,625 = 110,625
140,897 113,687 254,584
Other financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
2 8K AN 51 AR
ZHMESRBE
HK$’000
FET
Liabilities as per balance sheet REEABRKRFIZAE
Trade and other payables B 5 & H e 8 34,767

LD E Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 = 12 % & R 2 5
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17

18

INVENTORIES 17 B8
2015 2014
—E-AF —T &
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#T FHET
Raw materials R ¥t 3,270 3,766
Work in progress 2K 12,027 15,977
Finished goods 2K i 7,288 5,344
22,585 25,087

The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and included in cost
of goods sold amounted to approximately HK$43,673,000 (2014:
HK$46,701,000).

RARAXRAAHER R ZFERANR
43,673,000/% 7T (=% — [0 4F : 46,701,00078

JT) e

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18 BES R H M EWRIE
2015 2014
—E—A%F —E—mF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET F& T
Trade receivables B 5 W E 11,122 21,362
Prepayment, deposits and other receivables FENFIE - ke kHEMEKRKIEAE 4,257 4,078
15,379 25,440

The carrying amounts of the trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables approximated to their fair values.

The majority of the Group’s sales to customers were on open account
basis, with credit terms ranging from 30 to 60 days. The ageing of
trade receivables based on invoice date, is as follows:

BHRWFIR - e KA ER IR 2 BRE
BEEAQNAERE °

AEBABDHEETEL ZRBAG ALK
HETT - EEHNFB0E60H - B HEWEK

BREZHYZREDITAT

2015 2014

—E—-AF —T—mF

HK$°000 HK$'000

TFET FAT

Within 30 days 30H A 6,988 19,911
31-60 days 31-60H 4,114 1,451
61-90 days 61-90H 14 —
Over 90 days B 3890H 6 —
11,122 21,362
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18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2015, the trade receivables from the Group’s five
largest customers accounted for 99% (2014: 99%) of the total trade
receivables. The Group’s approach to managing credit risk is disclosed
in Note 3.

The ageing of trade receivables past due but not considered to be
impaired is shown below. These past due receivables relate to a
number of independent customers for whom there is no recent history
of default.

18 B 5 & H it FE W =R IH (4])

R-ZE—AE+-A=+—H AEEREAE
F 285G E 5 IR IE £ F899%
—E—UF:09%)c AEBEEEERR
2R ESHE -

B8 B 15 4% A SR (E 2 5 B WO IR Rtk
T - WSEBRRERES RS EABLE
P o EEBANE B RGRAD 8 o

2015 2014

—F—-hEF —ZT—mF

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FAET

Within 30 days 30HA 4,114 1,451
31-60 days 31-60H 14 —
61-90 days 61-90H 6 —
Over 90 days HHiE90H - —
4,134 1,451

At 31 December 2015, there was no provision for impairment of trade
receivables (2014: Nil).

The other classes within trade and other receivables did not contain
impaired assets.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was the
carrying amount of each class of receivables mentioned above. The
Group did not hold any collateral as security.

The carrying amounts of the trade receivables were denominated in the
following currencies:

R-ZE—FRF+-_A=+—HB VT EREH
EUGREELRERE (S —OF &) -

BHREMERFIARNEMBBEILFTEEE
BMEEE

REAPz KRB EERR S LS FEHE
YWORRIE 2 BRTE{E » AN SR E 30 8 =5 A (A
an (AR

BH WK Z REE AT E ¥ FI(E

2015 2014
—EF—A%F —E—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FH#T FHE T

Hong Kong dollar T = 3
Renminbi AR 4,331 10,172
United States dollar E7T 6,791 11,187
11,122 21,362
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18 B 5 & H 1t FfE W R IH (4R)

Be N EMEKFIR 2 REETATIIEE

18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The carrying amounts of deposits and other receivables were

denominated in the following currencies: FIME :
2015 2014
—E-IF —E-mF
HK$°000 HK$'000
TFET FAT
Hong Kong dollar B 657 1,297
Renminbi AR 1,739 1,767
United States dollar ETT 131 -
2,527 3,064

19 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 19 RARBEFANERRZEMEE
PROFIT OR LOSS
2015 2014
—E—ARE —ZT—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Held-for-trading FER S
Listed securities — Hong Kong mEHE — BB 121,639 113,687

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are presented within

“operating activities” as part of changes in working capital in the

statement of cash flows (Note 27).

The fair values of all equity securities are based on their current bid

prices in an active market (Note 3).

20 BANK DEPOSITS

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the overall effective interest
rate of the bank deposit was 1.52% (2014: 1.52%) per annum. These
deposits have an average maturity of 151 days (2014: 152 days). The
carrying amounts of the bank deposits were denominated in United

States dollar.

20

BARBEFAERER

SR ERMEBEERIRER

HIAEY  EABESRERANLELESE
Bz —3H (K E27) -

FIAEEMBRARESZ AR EHNERBRE
RS 2 BB A E A (I RES) -

RITHER

BE-ZT-AF+T-_A=+—HLFE" fE
(GREE Z%‘E‘Lfﬁ:fiﬂiﬂfz% 2B (=F—
F162E) WEFRZFHE JHﬂEli%151EI
(ZZ—m4:1620) - |{ITFRZEEET
AETIIE -
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21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

21 R RAE&%EEIEH

2015 2014

—E—-AF —ZFT—mF

HK$°000 HK$’000

TET FHT

Cash at bank and in hand RITEFHEEAS 50,239 50,560
Bank deposits with original maturities REHBA=M@ALAZ

less than 3 months |ITIF 38,139 60,065

88,378 110,625

The overall effective interest rate on short-term bank deposits was 0.7%
(2014: 1.2%) per annum and the deposits have an average maturity of
12 days (2014: 31 days).

The Group’s cash and bank balances of HK$3,966,000 (2014:
HK$3,595,000) are deposited with banks in the Mainland China. The
remittance of these funds out of the Mainland China is subject to
the exchange control restrictions imposed by the Mainland China
government.

The carrying amount of the cash and cash equivalents were
denominated in the following currencies:

RHBRTERCEEERFNERA0TE(Z
T—WOF:12E) EFHIEHA K128 (=
T—ME:31H) ¢

RNEB 238 & &R 17 4 £43,966,00078 7T (=
= — P4 : 3,595,000 7T) EFA R A E K
BE2R1T - BHESESERPRAEATE
AR B K RE BT B e 2 SNEE BE PR PR ] o

RekReSEHABZERAEDATIER
FIME :

2015 2014

—E—AEF —T—OF

HK$°000 HK$'000

THET TFA T

Hong Kong dollar BT 29,636 63,806
Renminbi AR¥E 3,966 3,549
United States dollar EPv 54,653 43,142
Others Hih 123 128
88,378 110,625
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22 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal
authority. As of 31 December 2015 and 2014, no deferred income tax
assets and liabilities were offset.

22 IEEFREH

EHAEARTEANGEEHHEBEEERES
REaEES BELEMEBHINLE MK
WEE - RIRTSIREMEREER BB -
RZE—RAFER-ZT—WOF+=_A=+—H "
WEKEEEMEREERARE -

2015 2014

—E—AEF —T—pO4F

HK$’000 HK$’000

T#T FH T

Deferred income tax liabilities BEEFTSIHRAaE (7,127) (8,240)

The movement in deferred income tax liabilities during the year is as

FAZELEMSHABZSHNOT

follows:
Net unrealised
gain on
Fair value revaluation
gains of land of trading
and buildings securities Total
EffxXS
THREFZ BHEIKREIHR
A5 E WS R U @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FAT
Balance as at 1 January 2014 RZZE—NFE—H—HZ
AR (5,959) — (5,959)
Debited to equity A 75 B (800) — (800)
Debited to profit or loss RIE=ERNK = (1,481) (1,481)
At 31 December 2014 RZZE—F
+=A=+—A” (6,759) (1,481) (8,240)
Balance as at 1 January 2015 RZTE—HFE—A—HBHZ
“h e (6,759) (1,481) (8,240)
Debited to equity O 75 B (368) = (368)
Credited to profit or loss RiE&EERFTA - 1,481 1,481
At 31 December 2015 RZZT—hHF
—A=+—H (7,127) = (7,127)
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22 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued) 22 IBEFRSH(E)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry forwards BEMEREEEER BB 2B IENEZE T
to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefit through the EERARARERT AN SIRE  REEH
future taxable profits is probable. The Group did not recognise deferred HEB®ER - ARRATAIEE AELEM
income tax assets of HK$40,262,000 (2014: HK$33,297,000) in respect SR EE - A& E SRS K% 185,959,000
of losses amounting to HK$185,959,000 (2014: HK$165,507,000) 7 7T (ZZ — M 4E : 165,507,000) 2 518 2 Ik
that can be carried forward against future taxable income because FE BT 15 i & E 40,262,000/ 7T (— T — U 4 :
their utilisation is not considered probable. Cumulative tax losses 33,297,000/8t) + A AEHUIKEE R
of HK$73,275,000 (2014: HK$75,208,000) can be carried forward FERBEUW A o 25T H1TH E51873,275,0005% T
indefinitely while tax losses of HK$112,684,000 (2014: HK$90,299,000) — = — [ : 75,208,000/ JT) A £ R HA 4%
will expire as follows: & i B 78 & 18112,684,0005%8 70 (& — Y
4 90,299,000/ 7T) IR A T FE A H -
2015 2014
—E—AF —T—mE
HK’000 HK’000
FHET T T

Expiring in AT E R E Hf
2016 —E—RF 49,987 50,194
2017 —E—tF 23,370 24,868
2018 —ZE—)N\F 8,194 9,494
2019 —E-NF 7,492 5,743
2020 —E-TF 23,641 —
Total FE 112,684 90,299
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23 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

23 BEHRHMEMNRE

2015 2014
—E—-hF —T—mOF
HK$°000 HK$’000
TERT T T
Trade payables B 5 R IE 10,792 14,565
Accruals EstEA 11,430 12,835
Other payables H b & 5 5K IE 2,610 7,367
24,832 34,767

The ageing of the trade payables, based on invoice date, was as BORNABZEZAHZRERAT

follows:

2015 2014
—E—-hF —ET—mF
HK$°000 HK$'000
TERT FHB T
Within 30 days 30H A 5,707 7,719
31-60 days 31-60H 4,497 5,710
61-90 days 61-90H 130 560
Over 90 days B 3890H 458 576
10,792 14,565
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23 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

Trade payables were denominated in the following currencies:

23 B 5 & Hfth & 1 R IE (8R)

BHRNFRIATIAT 3 & ¥ 5 E -

2015 2014

—E—-AF —ET—mF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET T T

Hong Kong dollar BT 40 317
Renminbi AR 10,137 14,056
United States dollar 7T 615 192
10,792 14,565

Other payables and accruals were denominated in the following
currencies:

HENRIBEREEBIDATIE S

A :

2015 2014

—ET-4fF —E—mEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

TET FHE T

Hong Kong dollar BT 1,734 5,851
Renminbi AREE 12,306 14,351
14,040 20,202

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables approximated to their
fair values due to their short term nature.

L LD Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 = 12 % & R 2 5
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24

25

SHARE CAPITAL 24 g &
2015 2014
—E—-AF —ZT—mF
Ordinary Ordinary
Number of shares of Number of shares of
ordinary HK$0.10 ordinary HK$0.10
shares each shares each
|i%0.10# T F %0107 7T
EiE 2 E iR Rl 2 ERR
%13 8B % & v gE] A% 19
(thousands) HK$’000 (thousands) HK$’000
(F i) T#&EXT (&) FHE T
At 1 January R—HA—H 804,700 80,470 535,408 53,541
Issuance of shares pursuant to a rights 18 5 £ I 25 17 BZ (5
issue = = 267,704 26,770
Share option exercised 17155 B ik 1 13,342 1,334 1,588 159
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 818,042 81,804 804,700 80,470
The total authorised number of ordinary shares is 2,000,000,000 (2014: 5 JE i IR 48 2 &2,000,000,000% (= ZF —
2,000,000,000) shares with a par value of HK$0.10 each (2014: HK$0.10 P44 : 2,000,000,000/%) + E &R EEA0.10
each). B (ZE—WF : SREECI0B L) °
On 20 November 2013, the Company proposed to issue not less than RZT—=F+—A=+8 AR6EZEB
267,704,000 new shares to the qualifying shareholders by way of a BERZTE-—NF—A+"BERFEMK
right issue at a price of HK$0.50 per rights share on the basis of A& 1 A B — MR 3T A& (2 B AEAE 1T AR -
one new share for every two shares held on 16 January 2014. On 13 EERHERKRRKRH00EBE L ZERME B
February 2014, pursuant to the right issue, the Company has issued % B %% 17 1~ 4 12 267,704,000% #7 % 153 ° 1A
267,704,000 ordinary shares, raising a total of HK$131,906,000 net of ZE—MF-_A+=A BEHRK T2
related expenses. A B % 17267,704,000/0 E @k - X ESE
131,906,000 7T (A& MR E A F <)
SHARE OPTIONS 25 FEIRIE

On 29 August 2012, 18,100,000 share options were granted to key
management personnel of the Group. The exercise price of these
options granted was HK$0.419. Upon completion of a rights issue on
13 February 2014, the number of share options outstanding at this date
was adjusted from 17,100,000 shares to 18,105,884 shares and the
exercise price was adjusted from HK$0.419 per share to HK$0.396 per
share.

During the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, no share options
were granted.

RZZE——FENA=-+IhB AEEXTEE
# A B 1%F18,100,00010 B #E - ILEE
REBREZITHFEER0MIBIT - RZZ—
MEZA+=HEAHRE - RZB R KT
1§ 2 BE A% #E 2B 17,100,000 0% A% 17 A & =
18,105,884 % B% fn + i 17 {8 R A & A% 0.419
BT AEZEFMR0.396 T °

BE_Z—RAFr_ZT—NF+=_A=+—
HIEFE @ W ERLERRE -
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25 SHARE OPTIONS (Continued) 25 MBI (]|)

Movements in share options are as follows: EREEFHWT
2015 2014
—ET-4fF —T—mEF
Number of Number of
shares shares
k& E & & B
(thousands) (thousands)
(FB%) (F8)
At beginning of year REA] 13,342 17,100
Adjustment due to the completion of rights issue &t 5¢ Ak £ I% Fr 1E 2 38 28 = 1,006
Exercised BiTfE (13,342) (1,588)
Lapsed B AR - (3,176)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H - 13,342

Up to 50% of the share options granted are exercisable from 29 August
2013 to 28 August 2014 (the “First Period”); the remaining 50% of the
share options together with any share options not exercised during the
First Period are exercisable from 29 August 2014 to 28 August 2022.

Options exercised in 2015 resulted in 13,341,178 shares (2014:
1,588,235 shares) being issued at a price of HK$0.396 (2014: HK$0.396)
each. The related share price at the time of exercise was HK$1.00 (2014:
HK$0.90) per share.

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the following
expiry date:

HZ50% 2 R EREITR=_Z—=F/\A
—t+thAhRE=Z—WENA=FTNB(E—
B 1T MERTE50% 38 IR 48 R AT I i 58—
HEMATEZERETR _Z—NFEN\A=
+TAhBEE-_ZE-_—_FN\A-_F+N\BITE -

RZZ — A F 17 BB R B 513,341,178 %
—Z—[O4 : 1,588,2350% ) B 5 A% 0.396
BT (B4 : 0.396/8 TT) 2 BIREEIT -
RITER - BEKREASR1.00E T (=2 —
P04 : 0.90/8 7T) °

RER - WARTEBEREZZHENT

Number of share options

(thousands)
iR B E (FH)
2015 2014
—B-if —F-—mE

Expiry date ES(p-El =]
28 August 2022

L L E Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 = 12 % & R 2 5
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26 OTHER RESERVES 26 Hithfkim
Fixed Share-
Exchange assets based
Share translation  revaluation Merger payment
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve Total
LA BR 17 4%
EEE Az
fi& 17 4 (B IE 3 & 5 BfFEE SO0REE TRES @t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T FHET T T F& T T FHE T
Balance as at 1 January 2014 RZZE—NE—A—RB2Z
Feg 3 105,835 (31,149) 17,877 (200) 2,381 94,744
Other comprehensive income Hfbh2mEEA
Fair value changes, net of NREEE  NBRETE
deferred tax 1| — — 2,401 — — 2,401
Currency translation differences HE N B A B B 7
arising on the translation of the WREEZIER =5
financial statements of overseas
subsidiaries — (21) = = = (21)
Total other comprehensive income £ fth & Y A 42 58 — (21) 2,401 — — 2,380
Transactions with owners HEBEAETZRS
Issuance of shares pursuant to R AR 1T AR 1D
a rights issue 105,136 — — — — 105,136
Employee share option scheme: EEBEREE
— Value of employee services — EERBKEE — — = = 473 473
— Exercise of share options — (T AR AE 722 — — — (252) 470
— Lapse of share options — BRERN - = = = (483) (483)
Total transactions with owners, BEANETZRS B
recognised directly in equity B EERERER 105,858 — — — (262) 105,596
At 31 December 2014 R-ZE—mEF
+=—A=+—8 211,693 (31,170) 20,278 (200) 2,119 202,720

Annual Report 2015 £ [ 5§ &

TE



Notes to the Financial Statements B #& ¥ 3% [ 5+

26 OTHER RESERVES (Continued) 26 Hfth ik i (&)
Fixed Share-
Exchange assets based
Share translation revaluation Merger payment
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve Total
VLR 3 B
EEE EfEz
% 153 it {8 B R GEE EffEE GCHE#EE TXREE @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FET TERT FTET FTET FTET
Balance as at 1 January 2015 RZZE—hF—HA—HBZ
FE 3 211,693 (31,170) 20,278 (200) 2,119 202,720
Other comprehensive income Hfh2EBA
Fair value changes, net of NAEES  NBET
deferred tax 18 - - 1,104 - = 1,104
Currency translation differences HE SN A F B i
arising on the translation of the REREEZIEN =5
financial statements of overseas
subsidiaries = (1,872) = = = (1,872
Total other comprehensive income  H fth 2 H W A 4258 - (1,872) 1,104 - - (768)
Transactions with owners HBEBAETZRS
Issuance of shares pursuant to AR 4 4 AR B 1T AR 1D
a rights issue = = = = = =
Employee share option scheme: EEERESE
— Value of employee services — EERBKEEB = - - = — -
— Exercise of share options — 1T AR 6,068 - - - (2,119) 3,949
— Lapse of share options — B R = = = = = =
Total transactions with owners, BEEANETZRS B
recognised directly in equity B OEHERNERER 6,068 - - - (2,119) 3,949
At 31 December 2015 R=ZT—HF
+=A=+—H 217,761 (33,042) 21,382 (200) — 205,901
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27 GERERERME

STATEMENT
Reconciliation of loss before income tax to net cash used in operations GATSHAEEELCEmAZIRESFBZY
is as follows: BRAATR :
2015 2014
—E—-AF —E—4F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET T3 T
Loss before income tax KRAETE R E B (36,949) (13,243)
Depreciation of properties, plant and equipment ¥ % - BERREITE 4,796 4,711
Loss/(gain) on disposal of properties, plant and  HEWE - BEMREZ
equipment wiE (k) 215 (182)
Impairment loss of properties, plant and Y- BMEREZEZ
equipment VEREN TR 2,035 —
Amortisation of land use rights b {5 AR AR 8 364 364
Share-based compensation LA B A7 A B TRt 2 3 B - 473
Finance income A& WA (560) (997)
(30,099) (8,868)
Changes in working capital: EEAEGH
Inventories EE 2,502 (924)
Trade and other receivables B 5 & A fE W 5k T 10,061 (868)
Trade and other payables E’f%&/ﬁmﬂ’iﬁm (9,935) 1,038
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss & AR B ABZEZEREE (7,952) (113,687)
Net cash used in operations KEFTAZE ST (35,423) (123,309)

In the statement of cash flows, proceeds from sale of properties, plant

REERERA  HEVE BERREEL

and equipment comprise: 15
2015 2014
—E—-hF — &
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FH T
Net book amount (Note 14) AR F A (ff3E14) 439 62
(Loss)/gain on disposal of properties, plant TEYME MEERXBEZ(ER),/
and equipment 15 2= (215) 182
Proceeds from disposal of properties, plant HEME MERZBABKIE
and equipment 224 244
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28 COMMITMENTS
Capital Commitments

Capital commitments at the balance sheet date but not yet incurred as
follows:

28 & i
eSS

NEEBERNREEZERFZENT

2015 2014

- —ZT—mF

HK$’000 HK$’000

TET T T

Properties, plant and equipment Y- BEREE 823 —

Commitments under operating leases

The Group had future aggregate minimum lease payments for buildings
under non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

EEHEERE

AEBRBEIATRHELEHEMAR KRR
BFEXMNZEHERRBLENAT:

2015 2014

—E—A%F —Z=—4F

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET FAT

Not later than one year —F RN 2,389 1,387
Later than one year and not later than five years —F &R ETEREE 951 694
3,340 2,081
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29 SUBSIDIARIES

29 MEB2AE

ARARR-E-—HF+-A=+—BZIE

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2015:

Company name

Place of
incorporation and

kind of legal entity

Principal activities and
place of operation

MEBARLT :

Particulars of issued
share capital

Percentage of
interest held

&F MM B 3L 30 B &
AT EHE ZEREREEE TEEBREEHME, ERTRAER FifstgEmB ot
Shares held directly:
EERARY :
Topwell Group Development British Virgin Islands, Investment holding in 1,000 ordinary shares of 100
Ltd. limited liability Hong Kong US$1 each
company
HEREZAHS REEBETREER 1,000k F R EE1ETZ
BRATA il
Shares held indirectly:
EEFARS :
Carry Wealth Limited Hong Kong, limited  Provision of management 4,000,000 ordinary shares 100
liability company services in Hong Kong of HK$1 each
A R AR 5 BARARA REBREEERY 4,000,0004% & i%
[ E178 7T 2 38 AR
Dragon Insight Investments  Hong Kong, limited  Securities trading in 1 ordinary share of 100
Limited liability company Hong Kong HK$1 each
BHREERAR B BARAR REBETEFRS 1REREE1E T2 LB
Hillwealth International Hong Kong, limited  Garment trading and 1 ordinary share of 100
Limited liability company securities trading HK$1 each
in Hong Kong
RonBEBEER QA HE  BRAR REBETHKKESR 1IREREEIBTZEER
BERS
Mass Wealth Investments Hong Kong, limited  Investment holding in 1 ordinary share of 100
Limited liability company Hong Kong HK$1 each
HEIRERRAA H& BRAF REBETREER 1R EIREEE T2 &K
BlLEERKXER A People’s Republic Manufacture of knit US$12,600,000 100

(Heshan Carry Wealth
Garment Limited)

of China, limited

liability company
MEARLME -

BRAFE

products in
Mainland China

TP R B K e A E Ak AR 5

12,600,0003% 7T
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30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, 404,944,690 shares and
404,944,690 shares (2015: 49.50%; 2014: 50.32%) of the
Company were held by Dragon Peace Limited, which is ultimately
owned by Mr Li Haifeng, a director of the Company. The directors
consider Dragon Peace Limited, a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands, to be the Company’s ultimate holding
company.

(b) Key management compensation

Key management of the Group comprises the executive directors

30 BAERXS

(@ RZZE—RFER=-ZZE—NFEF+=ZA=
+ — B &N A 7]404,944,6908% B 15
404,944,690/ B (=& — A & :
4950%: = T — M 4 :50.32%) H
Dragon Peace Limited# A @ A A FE
EXRFMEERKRERZAR - EFR
/ + Dragon Peace Limited (73 B & 22
HEAMEKZZ2BERARAARRTZ

REERRA °
(b) TEEEAEMS

AEETREEAEBRARERTES

of the Group. 40 K o
2015 2014
—F—-hEF —T—MmF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTHET FHT

Salaries and other short-term employee 2 & E A 5E B B B AR A

benefits 5,487 6,110
Contributions to the MPF Scheme BB E B K 36 42
5,523 6,152

31 EVENT AFTER BALANCE SHEET DATE

Subsequent to the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group entered
into an agreement to acquire 27.5% equity interests in a company
established in Mainland China at a consideration of RMB22,000,000
(approximately HK$26,200,000) using internal resources. The target
company is mainly engaged in the sale and development of smart card
application products used for non-cash payments in Mainland China.

L LB Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 = 12 % & R 2 5
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BE"ZT-—AF+-_HA=+—BLLEEH
% AEBEETLBAERE -HRPBEAR
B2 REI275% AR - KERARE
22,000,0007T, (4726,200,0007% 7t) * LA A &6
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HEMAEFRSNHEEREREM °



Notes to the Financial Statements B #& ¥ 3% [ 5+

32 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF

THE COMPANY

2 XA EEARRREREEE

2015 2014
—T—AEF —T—lEF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B & THER TET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EEHEE
Properties, plant and equipment Y% BERE&E 482 _
Investments in subsidiaries REBERARIZKRE - 21795
Amount due from a subsidiary — B A R R R 280,728 291,076
281,210 312,801
Current assets RBEE
Other receivables H & W IR 1,146 861
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEFEER 1,155 1148
2,301 2,009
Total assets BEE 283,511 314,810
EQUITY i
Capital and reserves attributable to the HAXA S ERIFEAELEZ
Company’s equity holders BEXEGHE
Share capital @ 81,804 80470
Other reserves H th 7 5 a 365,455 361.506
Accumulated losses REEBR (164,478) (127,880)
Total equity B 282,781 314,096
LIABILITIES Bf&
Current liabilities nBER
Other payables and accruals HiENRBREFER 730 714
Total liabilities BER 730 714
Total equity and liabilities BEDSRAR 283,511 314.810

Lee Sheng Kuang, James

FEA
Managing Director
BRI

Tang Chak Lam, Charlie

HER

Executive Director

HITEE
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32 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF

THE COMPANY (Continued)

(a) Reserve movement of the Company

2 FAFEERBERRAEELH(E)

(@) AAEIHERE

Share-
based
Share Contributed payment
premium surplus (i) reserve Total
LARR 3 B
2
BHiaE HARERG FGEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
T T FH T T T T T
At 1 January 2014 R=ZT—WF—A—H 105,835 147,694 2,381 255,910
Right Issue % 105,136 — — 105,136
Employee share option scheme EEERETE
— Value of employee services — EERBKEE — - 473 473
— Exercise of share options — 1T B 722 - (252) 470
— Lapse of share options — BRELAW — = (483) (483)
At 31 December 2014 MZT—M&F
+=ZA=+—A” 211,693 147,694 2119 361,506
At 1 January 2015 R=ZFT—hF—H—H 211,693 147,694 2,119 361,506
Employee share option scheme EEBERETE
— Value of employee services — EBRBEE - - - -
— Exercise of share options — T AR 6,068 - (2,119) 3,949
— Lapse of share options — BRERK = = = -
At 31 December 2015 RZZT—hF
+=-A=+—8© 217,761 147,694 — 365,455
Notes: B =F -

()  The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
difference between the consolidated shareholders’ funds of a
subsidiary acquired and the nominal value of the Company’s
shares issued in exchange therefor.
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CARRY WEALTH HOLDINGS LIMITED

EEERFRAT

2908, 29th Floor, Enterprise Square Three, 39 Wang Chiu Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong
BEANEERREGDEES3H29182908F

Tel 7% : (852) 23108180  Fax /ZH : (852) 2310 8797

Website #831t : www.carrywealth.com
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